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  Preface


  In writing this book I have had three purposes. First, I wanted to show that cases suggestive of reincarnation occur in Europe. By presenting reports of some much older casesones that I did not investigate myselfI am also able to show that cases of this type occurred in the first half of the 20th century. Nearly all the cases that I have studied and reported in previous publications occurred in Asia, West Africa, and among the tribes of northwest North America; and nearly all the inhabitants of these areas believe in reincarnation. Only a minority of Europeans do so. Although I can show that cases occur in Europe, they seem to be proportionately rarer there than in the other regions just mentioned, where I have found an abundance of cases ever since I began investigating them. In fact, we do not know whether the cases occur less often in Europe than in Asia or are only reported less often in Europe; both these possibilities may be true.


  Second, I think some of the cases here reported show features similar to those of cases that I have previously investigated in Asia. These are principally: a very young age of the child’s first speaking about a previous life; a forgetting of the claimed memories in middle childhood; a high incidence of violent death in the lives seemingly remembered; and frequently a reference to the mode of death in the subject’s statements. Similarly, the European subjects often show behavior that is unusual for their family and that accords with the subject’s statements about the previous life.


  Third, I believe that at least some of the cases of this volume provide evidence of a paranormal process. By this I mean that we cannot explain some of the subject’s statements or unusual behavior by normal means of communication. For these, reincarnation becomes a plausible interpretation, althoughas I have never ceased to assertit is not the only one.


  The dates on the drafts of some of the case reports show that I have been writing this bookintermittentlyfor some 30 years. For many years I neglected European cases, including the effort to ascertain more cases, while I concentrated on the cases, largely found in Asia, whose subjects had relevant birthmarks and birth defects. My associates and I are now again becoming active in the search for European cases, which I hope the publication of this book will facilitate.


  Notes for the Guidance of Readers


  The personal names used in this book are a mix of real names and pseudonyms. In a few cases I have changed names of places in order better to conceal an identity.


  In many places I have omitted qualifying words like claimed, apparent, and seeming before nouns, such as memories, that describe features of the cases. I have done this for ease of reading without intending to beg the principal question of the cases, which is that of whether these features include some paranormal process. By paranormal I mean not explicable by currently accepted knowledge of sensory processes.


  In a further effort to assist readers I have in some cases referred to the subject only by his or her first name. This usage suggests a development of friendship between myself and the subject or a member of the subject’s family. I have had this pleasure with some families, but not in all the cases in which I have adopted this familiar style.


  Because I want to show when I can resemblances between the features of European cases and those of other areas of the world, I have sometimes mentioned parallel features in cases that occurred outside Europe.


  I will explain or clarify several terms that my colleagues and I have adopted. First, we use the term previous personality for the deceased personactual or presumedto whom the subject’s statements refer. In some cases informants identify a previous personality on the basis of predictions, dreams, or birthmarks before the subject has made any relevant statements about a previous life. When we satisfy ourselves that the child’s statements and perhaps other features of the case correspond correctly to the life of a particular person, we describe the case as solved. Cases for which we fail to identify such a person we call unsolved. We refer to cases in which the subject and previous personality belong to the same family (sometimes an extended family) as same-family cases. We refer to cases in which the subject speaks about a previous life as a member of the opposite sex as sex-change cases.


  The Appendix provides references to reports of all cases referred to in this book.


  Part I


  European Beliefs About Reincarnation


  This book reports cases suggestive of reincarnation in Europe. The cases provide evidence of varying strengths. Prior beliefs influence judgments about evidence; and they influence even more the primary observations that furnish the evidence. This makes knowledge about the belief in reincarnation important for the appraisal of the cases. I begin the book, therefore, with a brief review of the belief in reincarnation among Europeans.


  Some philosophers of ancient Greece believed in reincarnation and taught it to their students. Of these the earliest is Pythagoras (c. 582500 B.C.) (Diogenes Laertius, c. 250/1925; Dodds, 1951; Iamblichus c. 310/1965). (Pythagoras was said to have remembered previous lives [Burkert, 1972, Diogenes Laertius c. 250/1925], but I am not concerned with that claim here.) The best known of the ancient Greek advocates of reincarnation, Plato, expounded the concept in numerous works, such as Phaedo, Phaedrus, Meno, (Plato, 1936) and The Republic, (Plato, 1935). Apollonius, a Greek born in Tyana and a sage and philosopher of the 1st century A.D., made reincarnation a central tenet of his teaching (Philostratus, 1912). Two centuries later, Plotinus (c. 205270) and succeeding Neoplatonists taught reincarnation (Inge, 1941; Wallis, 1972). Plotinus himself had an ethicized concept of reincarnation, one not dissimilar to that then developing in India and conceivably influenced by Indian thought. He wrote: “Such things … as happen to the good without justice, as punishments, or poverty, or disease, may be said to take place through offences committed in a former life” (Plotinus, 1909, p. 229).


  We could extend the list of European philosophers who taught reincarnation within the Roman dominions before the development of formal Christianity, but this would tell us little about their influence on ordinary people. I think it was slight. Julius Caesar indicated this when he thought the belief in reincarnation, which he found among the Druids of Gaul and Britain, worthy of comment in The Gallic War (Caesar, 1917).1 Elsewhere, outside of Roman influence, the belief had some currency. Some writings of northern Europeans (Norsemen) before the Christianization of their lands suggest that the belief in reincarnation occurred among them (Davidson, 1964; Ker, 1904); but we do not know how widespread it then was.


  The New Testament records incidents in the life of Jesus from which we can conclude not that Jesus taught reincarnation,2 but that the concept was known to the people around him and considered discussible. This does not mean, however, that all the early Christians believed in reincarnation; probably most did not. Some of those in early Christianity who did believe in reincarnation called themselves, or were called, Gnostics. They formed a current of spiritual thought rather than a formal group. Some of their writings endorse the idea of terrestrial reincarnations (Mead, 1921). Christian Gnostics almost certainly drew on ideas familiar to Greek philosophers and perhaps Indian ones also (Eliade, 1982).


  Christian theologians of the first few centuries after the life of Jesus frequently engaged themselves with the doctrines of Pythagoras and Plato, which, as I mentioned, Neoplatonists still expounded (Scheffczyk, 1985). One Christian Apologist, Tertullian (c. 160c.225), opposed the Neoplatonists with unusual vigor (Tertullian, 1950; Scheffczyk, 1985). In the following passage he ridiculed the idea that an old man could die and later be reborn as an infant.


  
    At their birth, all men are imbued with the souls of infants; but how comes it that a man who dies in old age returns to life as an infant? … At least the soul ought to come back at the age it had when it departed, so as to resume life where it left off.

  


  
    If they did return as precisely the same souls, even though they might acquire different bodies and totally different fates in life, they ought to bring back with them the same characters, desires, and emotions they had before, since we should hardly have the right to pronounce them the same if they were lacking in precisely the characteristics which might prove their identity [Tertullian, 1950, p. 251].

  


  Beginning as a persecuted minority, Christians needed to codify their beliefs. The codification brought formal declarations both of what was believed and of what was not to be believed. Regarding reincarnation the developing Christian orthodoxy focused on the teachings of Origen (c. 185c. 254), a saintly scholar who undertook a consolidation of Christian doctrine in On First Principles. Like his near contemporary Plotinus, Origen concerned himself with undeserved suffering, the problem of theodicy. He suggested that conduct in a life or lives before birth might explain inequities at birth (Origen, 1973). At first considered harmless, Origen’s concept of preexistence gradually aroused increasing opposition. Some historians have asserted that the Second Council of Constantinople in 553 anathematized Origen’s teachings; but this seems doubtful. The Council condemned other heresies besides those of Origen; his name barely figures in its transactions (Murphy and Sherwood, 1973). Nevertheless, some scholars have come to regard this Council as decisive in the church’s turning away from the idea of reincarnation. It seems important to note, therefore, that the pope, Vigilius, refused to attend the Council, which, packed by the emperor Justinian, tamely decreed what he instructed it to do (Browning, 1971). Furthermore, the decrees of the Council of Constantinople did not abruptly extinguish the belief in reincarnation among Christians. The question remained undecided until the time of Gregory the Great (c. 540604), half a century later (Bigg, 1913).


  Responsible scholars have differed about whether Origen believed and taught that reincarnation occurs (Butterworth, 1973; Daniélou, 1955; Krüger, 1996; MacGregor, 1978; Prat, 1907). Reincarnation entails preexistence, but preexistence does not entail reincarnation. Nevertheless, theologians concerned about orthodoxy confused the two. They considered the teaching of either of these ideas a dangerous return to those of Pythagoras and Plato and therefore beyond the limits of tolerable dissent.


  For centuries afterward little was thought and even less spoken about reincarnation in Europe. Exceptions occurred and were condemned or repressed. At the time of the Byzantine Renaissance a pupil of Michael Psellus “was excommunicated in 1082 for teaching pagan doctrines, including, it was alleged, transmigration” (Wallis, 1972, p. 162).3 St. Thomas Aquinas (12251274) found Platonic ideas incompatible with Christianity and expressly opposed the idea of reincarnation (George, 1996; Thomas Aquinas, c. 1269/1984). In the meantime, however, heretical beliefs, including that in reincarnation, spread in Europe, especially in France and Italy. In the 13th century the Cathars (or Albigenses) of southwestern France came near to a complete secession from the Roman Catholic Church. The church only recovered this territory when the pope, Innocent III, authorized soldiers from northern France to conquer and subdue the rebellious regions of the southwest. The northerners, with the utmost cruelty, stamped out Catharism and all its teachings (Johnson, 1976; Le Roy Ladurie, 1975; Madaule, 1961; Runciman, 1969).


  The extirpation of Catharism as a practiced religion could not prevent occasional philosophers from aberrantly endorsing the concept of reincarnation. In the late 15th century the Roman Catholic Church condemned the teachings of the Florentine Platonist Pico della Mirandola (14631494), which included reincarnation. A little more than a century later, in 1600, the Inquisition sentenced Giordano Bruno to be burned at the stake for, among other heresies, teaching reincarnation (Singer, 1950).


  In the several centuries following the judicial murder of Bruno, the idea of reincarnation caused no trouble to the Christian churches, whether Roman Catholic, Orthodox, or Protestant. Yet the idea persisted in the minds of many Europeans. Numerous poets, essayists, and philosophers alluded to it. To give one example only, Shakespeare could assume that theater-goers of the late 16th century would understand his allusions to Pythagoras in Twelfth Night, As You Like It, and The Merchant of Venice.4


  In the late 18th century translations of the texts of Asian religions began to reach Europeans. They became better acquainted with Asia and its religions than they had been. In the 19th century, however, the German philosopher Schopenhauer noted the isolation, as it were, of Europe from the belief in reincarnation that the majority of the world’s population then held. In 1851 he wrote


  
    Were an Asiatic to ask me for a definition of Europe I should be forced to answer him: It is that part of the world completely dominated by the outrageous and incredible delusion that a man’s birth is his beginning and that he is created out of nothing [p. 395; my translation].

  


  The immense popular success of Sir Edwin Arnold’s poem The Light of Asia, first published in 1879, reflected as well as caused a greater interest among Europeans in Buddhism, which the poem expounded.5 We may say the same of Theosophy and its stepsibling, Anthroposophy. Both of these increased popular understanding of Hinduism and Buddhism, including the idea of reincarnation; but they built upon and elaborated, not always wisely, the work of translating scholars such as T. W. Rhys Davids, who founded the Pali Text Society in 1881, and Max Müller. These scholars had already made it possible for Thomas Henry Huxley (a biologist not an orientalist) to present, in the Romanes lecture of 1893, a knowledgeable and sympathetic summary of Hinduism and Buddhism with allusions to reincarnation (Huxley, 1905).


  Bergunder (1994), in a study of the belief in the reincarnation of ancestors throughout the world, mentioned that modern European parents sometimes believe that a deceased child may reincarnate as a later-born baby in the same family. As examples he cited the case of Bianca Battista, of which I include the report (from 1911) in this book, and that of the Spanish surrealist painter Salvador Dalí. The first-born son of the painter’s parents, called Salvador, died at the age of 21 months on August 1, 1903. Their second son, the painter, was born a bare 9 months later, on May 11, 1904, and given the name of his deceased brother (Secrest, 1986). Salvador Dalí seems never to have claimed memories of his deceased brother’s life. His parents, particularly his father, however, believed that their deceased son had reincarnated.


  In the middle of the 19th century the Roman Catholic Church refused to recognize the newly unified state of Italy. In France the anticlericalism that developed later in that century led to the legislative separation, in 1905, of the Roman Catholic Church and the state. Some deplored these developments as opening the way to materialism, but freedom to think for oneself may lead to other beliefs, such as that in reincarnation. Somehow, in the century after Schopenhauer’s definition of Europe, his dictum no longer became as true as it had been. And so we come to the surveys of the belief among modern Europeans.


  The first survey known to me occurred in 1947. The persons interviewed were few, only 500, and they lived in a small area (a borough of London, England). Only about 4% of the persons interviewed spontaneously expressed a belief in reincarnation. These were, however, 10% of all those professing belief in some kind of survival after death (Mass-Observation, 1947).


  In the 1960s surveys about religious beliefs were conducted in other (European) countries. In 1968 one was carried out in eight countries of West Europe. By that time an average of 18% of the respondents believed in reincarnation. The proportion of positive respondents showed a range between 10% in Netherlands and 25% in (West) Germany. In France 23% of respondents believed in reincarnation and in Great Britain 18% did so (Gallup Opinion Index, 1969).


  Later surveys have shown a further increase in the proportion of (West) Europeans who believe in reincarnation. In a survey of ten European countries reported in 1986, the average of respondents who believed in reincarnation had increased to 21%, but this increase seems mainly due to a large number of positive responses in Great Britain. The figures for (West) Germany and France remained unchanged (Harding, Phillips, and Fogarty, 1986). Surveys of the early 1990s showed further increases in the belief in reincarnation. At this time 26% of respondents in Germany believed in reincarnation as did 28% of those in France and 29% of those in Great Britain and in Austria (Inglehart, Basañez, and Moreno, 1998).6


  Surveys in France have shown a marked decline in adherence to the Roman Catholic Church. In 1966 80% of respondents counted themselves as Roman Catholics; in a survey of 1990 only 58% of the respondents did so (Lambert, 1994). In the same survey 38% of the respondents declared themselves “without any religion,” and 39% of this group believed in reincarnation. Not all French persons expressing belief in reincarnation, however, were irreligious. On the contrary, 34% of persons who considered themselves practicing Catholics believed in reincarnation. It nevertheless appears that in France at least, an increased belief in reincarnation accompanied both a decline in attachment to the country’s dominant religion and an increase in detachment from all religions.


  A similar development to that in France appears to have occurred in England, where the state religion is the Anglican Church. Many persons continue to belong to a Christian Church, whether Anglican or other, while not believing everything there taught (Davie, 1990). Of these, many have come to believe in reincarnation, although not necessarily attaching themselves to any New Age Group (Waterhouse, 1999). In short, they have privatized their religion (Walter and Waterhouse, 1999).


  Europeans who believe in reincarnation have rarely grouped themselves in organized sects. (An exception occurred in the spiritist followers of Allan Kardec [1804 1869], who taught reincarnation in France.) The vocabulary of popular writings on reincarnation in Europe often shows obvious borrowings from Hinduism and Buddhism, for example, in the widespread use of words like karma, astral body, and akashic record. No strictly European scriptural system embodying the belief in reincarnation exists (Bochinger, 1996).


  The increase in the numbers of Europeans who believe in reincarnation has not gone unremarked by those charged with maintaining Christian orthodoxy. They will accept no syncretic admission of the idea of reincarnation within Christianity, for which nevertheless some devout Catholics have wished (Stanley, 1989). Important theologians in France have railed against the belief in reincarnation (Stanley, 1998). The official catechism of the Roman Catholic Church in France states categorically that “There is no reincarnation after death” (Catéchisme de l’église Catholique, 1992, p. 217).7


  The heads of the Roman Catholic Church in England must find dismaying that large numbers of formal Roman Catholics believe in reincarnation. A survey of Roman Catholics in England and Wales, conducted in 1978, found that 27% of respondents believed in reincarnation (Hornsby-Smith and Lee, 1979). The Rev. Joseph Crehan, S. J., believed himself obliged to publish a booklet inveighing against the belief in reincarnation (Crehan, 1978).


  In Germany also, Roman Catholic theologians have responded polemically to the increased belief in reincarnation among Europeans (Kaspar, 1990; Schönborn, 1990).


  Although the surveys I have cited show a substantial increase in the belief in reincarnationeven within the several decades of their being conducted, they do not explain why so many persons in Europe have adopted this belief. I think they cannot have done so on the basis of publicly available evidence for reincarnation. As I shall show in Part II, a small number of European cases of the reincarnation type were published during the first half of the 20th century; but few persons without a special interest in the subject would have read these reports. More abundant evidence from larger numbers of cases only became available in the last third of the century and could not have stimulated the earlier increase in the belief that the surveys demonstrated.


  In the absence of other obvious answers I permit myself the following conjecture about why church attendance has declined and the belief in reincarnation has increased during the last hundred years or more. The achievements of the scientific method during the past 4 centuries have brought two important refutations of formal Christian doctrine: I refer to cosmology before Copernicus, Kepler, and Galileo and to biology before Lamarck and Darwin. The decline in the membership of Christian churches reflects a general loss of confidence in authoritative statements by representatives of the churches.


  “Beware of the man with a single book.” So runs an Arabian proverb. It is a strange saying to come from Arabia. Yet Arabs are not the only peoples to vest their faith in one book. Some Christians have shown this failing also. Now, however, increasing numbers of them have found the Bible to contain much truth, but not all of it. In the 20th century several philosophers discussed the idea of reincarnation sympathetically, and even positively (Almeder, 1992, 1997; Broad, 1962; Ducasse, 1961; Lund, 1985; McTaggart, 1906; Paterson, 1995). Few scientists have done so.


  The writings of most modern scientists offer no solution to the seeming injustice of birth defects and other inequalities at birth. Instead they depict an exclusively material existence ending in extinction at death. Unsatisfied with this, many human beingsperhaps especially in modern Europecontinue to search for some meaning to life that transcends their own present existence. Reincarnation offers hope of a life after death; and it offers a possibility of our eventually understanding the causes of our suffering. These offerings do not make it true; only evidence can show whether it is or is not true. They may, however, account for the increasing attractiveness of the belief in reincarnation.


  1. The belief in reincarnation persisted among the Celts long after they became formally Christians. At the beginning of the 20th century Evans-Wentz (1911) recorded the belief among the Celtic inhabitants of Scotland, Wales, and Ireland.


  2. Most translators, up to the 19th century and sometimes beyond, used the word metempsychosis, but some referred to the concept as palingenesis; others used transmigration. Inge (1941) rejected metempsychosis, preferring instead to use metensomatosis, because the bodies, not the souls, are changed at rebirth. The word reincarnation has currency now, and I will use it throughout this work. Buddhists prefer the word rebirth, which helps them to distinguish their concept of anatta (no soul) from that of Hinduism and most other beliefs in reincarnation, which include the idea of a persisting soul attached to successive physical bodies. In modern writings the word metempsychosis emphasizes the possibility of humans being reborn in the bodies of nonhuman animals.


  3. The teachings of persons and communities accused of heresies, from Psellus to Giordano Bruno, included other unacceptable ideas besides that of reincarnation. Sometimes they offered an amalgam of concepts derived not only from Plato but also, for example, from Manicheism or from independent thinking.


  4. Head and Cranston (1977) and MacGregor (1978) cited numerous references to reincarnation or endorsements of the belief by European authors.


  5. In the preface to his poem, Arnold wrote: “A generation ago little or nothing was known in Europe of this great faith of Asia, which had nevertheless existed during twenty-four centuries, and at this day surpasses, in the number of its followers and the area of its prevalence, any other form of creed” (Arnold, 1879/1911, p. vii).


  6. No overall figures for West Europe can be calculated from the data for the early 1990s.


  7. The catechism is universally valid for Roman Catholics wherever they are in the world. I compared the French text of the negative assertion about reincarnation with that of the English language edition, Catechism of the Catholic Church, published in 1994. The wording is precisely the same. The authority cited is the passage in St. Paul’s epistle to the Hebrews: “And as it is appointed unto men once to die, but after this the judgment” (Heb. 9:27 KJV).


  Part II


  Uninvestigated Cases from the First Third of the 20th Century


  In this chapter I describe eight older cases. They all occurred in the first third of the 20th century. We do not have precise dates for the occurrence of some of the cases, but I have presented them here in what I believe was their chronological order.


  None of the cases of this chapter received an outside investigation, by which I mean that of someone not immediately concerned as the subject or an informant for the case. We may ask ourselves what an investigator contributes to the report of a case. First, he or she must make, or have made, an accurate record of the details of a case. No one can accomplish this without the cooperation of firsthand witnesses. We have these witnesses for the eight cases included in this section. The first reports of them were written, with one exception, either by the subject himself or by the father, other relative, employer, or an acquaintance of the subject. In the exceptional case (not previously published) the subject narrated his experience to a respected landowner of his region.


  Second, an investigator asks informants about details omitted from spontaneous narratives. Among other details, dates can become important. The cases of this chapter show wide variations in the supply of this detail. For the case of Alessandrina Samonà the subject’s father furnished precise dates for some events in the development of the case and sufficiently close dates for other events. In contrast, Giuseppe Costa, who wrote autobiographically about his experiences, furnished no dates whatever for their various phases.


  Third, we expect an investigator to appraise the reliability of the informants for a case. To do this the investigator should, when feasible, interview the informants. I could not do that for these eight cases, with the exception of that of Georg Neidhart, whom I met on two occasions. If an investigator cannot interview the informants, some other means of probing their reliability may assist. Reports that include errors of verifiable details evoke diminished confidence compared with ones not having such defects. So do reports that show the reporter eager to persuade readers to agree with the reporter’s interpretations. Those that contain sufficient detail, as I think most in this chapter do, enable readers to evaluate a case, even when they cannot interview the informants for it.


  The few older cases presented in this chapter do not permit any kind of quantitative comparison between them and more recent cases. We can, nevertheless, note the occurrence of one feature of some older cases that we do not find in more recent ones. For example, apparitional experiences occurred in three of the earlier cases, but in none of the later ones. Also, in three of the older cases, but only one of the later ones, the participants reported mediumistic communications with deceased persons. In other features the older cases resemble the later ones.


  Some of the writers have provided initials, but not full names for the subject or other persons concerned in a case. To make their reports easier to read I have supplied complete names, which are pseudonyms.


  The reports of three of the cases include references to past events about which we can consult contemporary records or historians’ citations of these. I have included references to these sources.


  Readers who believe that the strength of evidence evaporates with the passage of time1 and those who think earlier observers less careful than we are will find these older cases unconvincing. I do not belong in their group. If a reader asks why we should find these cases credible, I ask why we should not.


  __________________________________

  

  Case Reports

  __________________________________


  Giuseppe Costa


  The subject himself reported this case in a book entitled Di là dalla vita, which could be translated into Englishalthough the book never has beenby From the Beyond to This Life (Costa, 1923). The author was Giuseppe Costa, and he devoted some 50 pagesabout one-quarterof the book to an account of personal experiences that convinced him that he had lived before. The remainder of the book offers a popular summary of psychical research.


  The report lacks dates for events. Costa’s book was published in 1923. A number of years later Ernesto Bozzano, who was then the leading investigator of psychical phenomena in Italy, met Costa and became interested in his case. In 1940 Bozzano published a chapter in a book that was partly an account of his interview with Costa and partly a summary of the section in Costa’s book in which Costa described his claimed memories of a previous life (Bozzano, 1940). The chapter was later reprinted in Luce e Ombra (Bozzano, 1994). Bozzano did not give a date for his meeting with Costa. He stated that Costa’s book had been published “a good many years ago,” so we can suppose that he met Costa around 1935. In his book Costa did not mention when he was born. Bozzano stated that he seemed to be in his 50s when they met. If we build on this flimsy evidence, we can suppose that Costa was born around 1880. He would have been in his 40s in 1923, when he published his book. In it he refers to the culminating events of his experiences as having occurred “many years earlier” than his time of writing. One important event of his experiences (that I shall describe) occurred just before the final examinations of his years at college, which would perhaps have been around 1904. Costa trained and worked as an engineer. The later experiences that led to their verification occurred, we can believe, before he was 30 years old, let us say in about 1910.


  I base my account of the case on Bozzano (1940/1994), but I have also consulted Costa’s book, the text of which sometimes differs from Bozzano’s in unimportant ways. Dr. Karl Müller, from whom I first learned of the case, gave me a brief summary of it in English; he had prepared this from Brazzini (1952), who, however, had summarized Bozzano’s report.


  Costa’s experiences developed, as I have estimated, from early childhood until his early 30s. We can identify several distinct phases in their occurrence.


  The first phase began in early childhood, but Costa did not mention a particular age. His family had a painting hanging on the wall of their living room that depicted an oriental scene: a city with towers and golden domes on the banks of a body of water. (He learned later that the painting was of Constantinople and the Bosporus.) This picture aroused in him a series of images that jumbled around in his mind: scenes of large numbers of armed men, ships sailing, banners flying, the noise of a battle, mountains, the sea stretching to the horizon, hills covered with flowers. When the young Costa tried to order these images into some rational sequence, he found them intractable. Yet their vividness impressed him, and even as a young child he believed he had somehow lived through the scenes arising in his mind.


  Costa did not say where he was born, but he passed his infancy and childhood in the small town of Gonzaga, near Mantua. He attended the lyceum in Mantua. These places are in the valley of the river Po, where the countryside is flat and the sea about 100 kilometers away. Costa asserted that, whatever the origin of those childhood images, they had no basis in any of his surroundings at that time of his life.


  The next phase of his experiences occurred when, at the age of 10, his father took him for the first time to Venice. As soon as he arrived there he had a sense of familiarity with the city, as if he had been there before, long ago. That same night he had a vivid dream. In it all the disparate, seemingly unrelated images that he had earlier experienced became ordered in a chronological sequence, as follows:


  
    After a long journey in boats, through rivers and canals, we arrived in Venice. We traveled in barques filled with armed soldiers in the clothing of the Middle Ages. I seemed to be about 30 years old and had some kind of command. After a stay in Venice we embarked in galleys on which two banners waved: a blue one with the image of the Virgin Mary among golden stars, and that of Savoy, red with a white cross.2 On the larger3 galley, which was more painted and decorated [than the other], there was someone to whom everyone showed great respect and who spoke to me with great friendliness. Then came the sea, seemingly endless, stretching beyond the horizon. Then we disembarked in a sunny land with a clear sky of cobalt blue. Then the army embarked again and landed at a different place. There the troops were coordinated; there were tents full of soldiers, beneath a city with old towers bristling with armaments. Then came our assault, a battle of tremendous violence ending when we broke into the city. Then finally came the march of our splendid army into the city with its domes of gold on the wonderful bay. This was the magnificent city, Constantinople, depicted in the painting of [our house in] Gonzaga, as I learned later [Bozzano, 1940, pp. 31718; my translation].

  


  Costa emphasized that the images of his dream reproduced those of his earlier childhood, but the dream assembled them into a rational order that strengthened his belief in having lived through the scenes of the earlier images and the dream.4


  From his early youth Costa had a keen interest in arms, fencing, gymnastics, and horseback riding. He engaged in these activities to the point of neglecting the assigned classical studiesLatin and Greekof his high school. He volunteered to join the army and was appointed a second lieutenant in the Royal Cavalry of Piedmont. He was then stationed in Vercelli, which is about halfway between Milan and Turin. Here he delighted in the military life. It all seemed entirely natural to him, as if he had resumed a previous occupation.


  In Vercelli he had another of his unusual experiences. One day he was passing the church of Saint Andrea, when the sounds of some sacred music impelled him to enter the church. As he entered, however, he experienced an unpleasant feeling of some kind of repentance carried over from the past. He did not know what to make of this, but conjectured that perhaps he had participated in some ceremony at this church that had burdened his mind.


  After this episode, Costa became involved in responsibilities toward his family. His apparent memories of a previous life lost their importance. He was essentially a materialist and might have forgotten all about the earlier unusual experiences if he had not had another one that completely reversed his convictions.


  This experience occurred as he was preparing for the final examinations for his degree.5 He studied so long and so intensely that he worked himself into a state of near-exhaustion, could not stay awake any more, and collapsed onto his bed. As he turned over in the ensuing sleep, he struck and upset an oil lamp that was burning in his bedroom. The lamp then emitted noxious fumes that quickly filled the bedroom. He awakened, but then found himself above his physical body and looking down on it. He sensed that his life was in danger, and in this extremity he somehow called for help to his mother, who was sleeping in the next room. He became aware that he could see through the wall into his mother’s bedroom. He saw her awaken with a start, go to the window of her room, which she opened, and then run to his room, where she opened a window to dispel the fumes there. In his opinion later, this action saved his life. Costa was particularly impressed when, knowing that he could not physically have seen through the wall to his mother’s bedroom, he asked her whether she had opened the window of her own room before coming to help him, and she replied that she had done this. He felt liberated by the experience and never doubted again that body and mind are separable.6


  The last of Costa’s unusual experiences, including the culminating one, occurred when he and two friends made a tour in the valley of Aosta7 and visited several of its castles. Costa recorded his reactions on visiting three of them: Ussel, Fénis, and Verrès. At Ussel he felt a sense of sadness and oppression. As I shall explain later, he subsequently attributed this malaise to events in the previous life of which he later obtained some verification. At Fénis he had no unusual experience.


  In contrast, at Verrès, he was profoundly moved. He described himself as filled with strong emotions of somewhat mixed quality: love and regrets. (He did not describe any recurrence of images at this stage.) He found the ruined castle so moving that he decided to return to it at the time of sunset. When he got back to the castle later, a great storm came up, and he had to spend the night in the castle. It seems not to have been inhabited at this time, but he found an old bed on which he could sleep. Despite the raging storm he felt serene and soon fell asleep. After some time he awoke and noticed a light that he described as phosphorescent. The light expanded until it developed the form of a human being and then discernibly that of a woman. The figure beckoned Costa to follow her, and he did this. At first briefly frightened by the phantasm, he then became fascinated, and as he came closer to the figure he experienced a feeling of the deepest love. Then he heard the figure speak: “Ibleto! I wanted to see you again once more before divine death unites us once more…. Read near the tower of Albenga an account of one of your past lives…. Remember me and that I am waiting for you until the time comes.”


  Costa had learned at the time he visited the castle of Verrès that a man called Ibleto di Challant had built it in 1380. He probably also learned that Ibleto di Challant was a trusted counselor of Amadeus VI, count of Savoy. He decided, however, to study whatever he could find “near the tower of Albenga.”8 He soon learned that there are (or were at that time) several towers in Albenga. Which was the one he wanted? From inquiring around he learned that the owner of one of them was a descendant of the family of di Challant. He then introduced himself to the proprietor, Marquis Del Carretto di Balestrina, and on the pretext of studying medieval history, he asked to be allowed to examine whatever records were available concerning Ibleto di Challant. The marquis obligingly made available to Costa a number of family documents about the di Challant family that he had inherited. Among these Costa found a biography of Ibleto di Challant written by Boniface II, lord of Fénis, which was one of the castles that Costa had visited. This work was an unpublished manuscript, written in French.9


  Costa’s Summary of Boniface’s Biography of Ibleto di Challant


  Ibleto di Challant was born in 1330, the son of Giovanni di Challant. He eventually inherited half a dozen substantial properties including Verrès and Montjovet. From his youth on, he was at the court of the count of Savoy, Amadeus VI (1334 1383), who was known as the “Green Count” because of his wearing clothes of that color at tourneys. Ibleto di Challant became an advisor and military companion to Amadeus VI.


  At the court of Amadeus VI, Ibleto fell in love with the count’s sister, Blanche of Savoy. He wished to marry her, but for reasons of state Amadeus arranged for her to marry Galeazzo Visconti, lord of Milan. With some reluctance, Ibleto married a woman, Giacometta di Chatillon, designated by his father.


  In 1366 Ibleto accompanied Amadeus VI during a kind of belated crusade against the Turks near Constantinople. The expedition embarked from Venice, stopped somewhere in Morea (southern Greece) for regrouping, and went to Gallipoli (which the Turks had taken from the declining Byzantine Empire in 1354). After capturing Gallipoli the Italians went on to Constantinople. Amadeus then found the emperor, John, ineffective and unhelpful in repelling the Turks. Becoming discouraged about prospects of success, Amadeus returned to Italy and thereafter played an important part in its affairs until his death in 1383. Ibleto di Challant then became an advisor of his son, Amadeus VII, who was known as the “Red Count,” so named because of his favorite color. Amadeus VII died at the age of 29, under somewhat mysterious circumstances. He fell from his horse and thereafter had a wound in his leg that did not heal. He may have died of tetanus. Boniface stated that he died in the arms of Ibleto di Challant. After the premature death of Amadeus VII in 1391, Ibleto di Challant continued for a time in the service of Bona di Borbone, the regent for her son, Amadeus VIII, who was then an 8-year-old boy. Toward the end of the century, tired of intrigues and warfare, he retired to the castle of Verrès, where he died in 1409.


  In 1377 Amadeus VI freed the city of Biella (northeast of Turin) from the control of the bishop of Vercelli. He captured the bishop, who was held prisoner for almost a year at Ibleto di Challant’s castle of Montjovet. For this offence, the pope, Gregory XI, excommunicated Ibleto. In 1378 Gregory XI died, and his successor at Rome (it was the time of the Great Schism in the Papacy), Urban VI, released Ibleto from the sentence of excommunication with the condition that he ceremonially express his repentance to the bishop of Vercelli in the church of St. Andrea. Ibleto did this. Costa believed a subliminal memory of this humiliation accounted for the oppressive feeling he had when, as a young man, he had gone into the church of St. Andrea in Vercelli.


  Costa also found an explanation for the unpleasant feeling he had experienced at Ussel, when he learned (from the documents at Albenga) that two members of the di Challant family, who held the castle of Ussel, had robbed and plundered the people of the valley. The count of Savoy levied a fine on them, but this did not cancel the damage they had done to the family name.


  Information About Ibleto di Challant from Other Sources


  It seemed to me important to learn about the life of Ibleto di Challant from sources other than the (presumably still unpublished) manuscript biography by Boniface.


  The history of the counts of Savoy in the 14th century has not much interested Anglo-Saxon historians. A fairly detailed history of Venice refers in two lines to the expedition of the count of Savoy against the Turks in 1366 (Norwich, 1982). This work mentions that Venice grudgingly contributed two galleys to the expedition. In a history of Venice in the late Middle Ages (Hodgson, 1910) I found the following footnote:


  
    The count of Savoy (Amadeus VI, surnamed “The Green”) sailed from Venice in 1366, took Gallipoli and entered Constantinople, where he found that the Emperor John V was a prisoner of the King of Bulgaria at Widdin. He pressed on and released the Emperor and brought him back to his capital … [p. 489].

  


  What seems an obscure corner of history to me in the early 21st century may not have been unknown to a schoolboy of Italy in the late 19th century. I found some information about Ibleto di Challant in a biography of Count Amadeus VI of Savoy (Cognasso, 1926). This work gives several pages to Amadeus’s crusade against the Turks in 1366. It describes the departure from Venice, a landing at Morea, then the taking of Gallipoli and entry into Constantinople. The description of the crusade contains no reference to participation by Ibleto di Challant. Cognasso does not refer to him until he describes the events of 1374, when Ibleto di Challant was “captain general of the Piedmontese forces.” In 1378, Cognasso wrote, Ibleto di Challant suppressed a rebellion at Biella (northeast of Vercelli) and kept the bishop a prisoner in his (di Challant’s) castle of Montjovet; but Cognasso did not mention the pope’s excommunicating Ibleto di Challant for this offence. Ibleto di Challant’s name occurs from time to time in Cognasso’s narrations of the later years of Amadeus’s reign and the much shorter reign of his son, Amadeus VII (Cognasso, 1926, 1931). Carbonelli (1912) mentions Ibleto di Challant’s service to the Regent of the boy Amadeus VIII after the death of Amadeus VII.


  Two later biographies of Amadeus VI mention Ibleto di Challant more than a few times (Cox, 1967; Savoia, 1956); but neither of them refers to Ibleto di Challant’s participation in Amadeus’s crusade of 1366. An earlier work, a detailed history of the di Challant family, mentioned Ibleto di Challant’s participation in that crusade (Vaccarone, 1893). This work also mentions the pope’s excommunication of Ibleto di Challant for having imprisoned the bishop of Vercelli in his castle at Montjovet; but it does not mention a penance later performed by Ibleto di Challant in the Church of Saint Andrea at Vercelli.


  No source I have consulted confirmed that Amadeus VII died “in the arms” of Ibleto di Challant. He may, however, have been present when Amadeus died, and he was among those suspected unjustly of having poisoned Amadeus.


  In three details Costa’s account (based solely on Boniface’s biography) differs from information other sources provide. He wrote that Amadeus took 10,000 soldiers on his expedition to Constantinople in 1366; but Cognasso estimated that he could have had no more than 2,000 men, of cavalry and infantry together. This discrepancy may have derived from an error on the part of Boniface. A second discrepancy occurred in Costa’s description of the fighting in Turkey. He implied that a battle was fought at Constantinople. The only battle of the campaign was in fact fought before Gallipoli. The Turks then surrendered that town, and from there the Savoyards marched easily to Constantinople. The third discrepancy seems the most important. As I mentioned, Costa learned from Boniface that Ibleto di Challant wished to marry Blanche, the sister of Amadeus VI. Instead, Amadeus arranged for her to marry Galeazzo Visconti of Milan, which she did on September 28, 1350 (Mesquita, 1941). Costa conjectured that Ibleto di Challant’s unhappiness over his thwarted love for Blanche became a factor in his joining Amadeus’s crusade. The expedition to Constantinople, however, did not occur until 1366, and it seems unlikely, although not impossible, that Ibleto di Challant’s thwarted love for Blanche could have been a factor, more than 15 years later, in his joining the crusade.


  Costa’s Identification of the Apparitional Figure at Verrès


  Costa did not clearly identify the apparitional figure who spoke to him during the night he spent in the castle of Verrès. He conjectured that she might have been Blanche of Savoy, with whom Ibleto di Challant had been in love. He also thought she might have been Giacometta di Chatillon, whom Ibleto had married.


  Giacometta must have died before Ibleto di Challant, because he married, as his second wife, Giovanna di Nus (Vaccarone, 1893). Costa did not mention her.


  Physical Resemblances Between Costa and Ibleto di Challant


  Costa found (probably at Albenga) a portrait of Ibleto di Challant, which he reproduced in his book. Bozzano believed that the faces of Ibleto (as depicted in the portrait) and that of Costa were so similar that one might have been mistaken for the other. Ibleto had been a large man, almost a giant among his contemporaries. Costa himself was a large person whose great size and martial bearing much impressed Bozzano.


  Costa’s Conviction About the Paranormal Features of His Experiences


  Costa believed that the documents (including the biography of Ibleto) that he found at Albenga had verified the details in the dream he had had as a 10 year-old child when he first went to Venice. He found particularly impressive the direction the apparitional figure had given him to study relevant documents at Albenga. These documents, he learned, had descended in the family for centuries. Like a ball falling in a pinball machine, however, the documents might have gone to other descendants. The name of di Challant was not part of the name of the Marquis Del Carretto di Balestrina. Costa thought that few persons outside the marquis’s immediate family would have known that he (the marquis) was a descendant of a di Challant.


  Comment


  Costa did not state any date for the painting of Constantinople that hung in his family’s living room and that had stimulated his first images of a previous life when he was a young child. Presumably, however, it would have depicted Constantinople as it was in the 19th century. This must have differed much from the appearance of the city in the 14th century. Yet perhaps not everything had changed. The emperor Justinian had the present building of the Haghia Sophia erected in 532. (The Turks converted it into a mosque after they conquered Constantinople in 1453; it is now a museum.) The cover of Runciman’s account of the siege of Constantinople in 1453 reproduces a depiction of the siege painted in 1499 (Runciman, 1965). It shows the walls and many towers, although no golden domes. Given these features and the city’s location on a large body of water, the Bosporus, the painting on the wall of the Costa house in Gonzaga may well have aroused memories of a previous age in Constantinople.


  Costa was 10 when he first went to Venice with his father. A boy of that age would almost certainly have learned something of the history of the counts and dukes of Savoy. The king of Italy in 1890 was Humbert I, a descendant of Amadeus VI. We can ask, however, whether a boy so young could have learned about the futile crusade that Amadeus undertook in 1366. If he had, he might have known that a man called Ibleto di Challant had an important role in that expedition.


  Normal explanations that take us this far, however, seem powerless to explain how Costa learned about the verifying documents he found at Albenga. Bozzano obviously brooded about this case after he had listened to Costa. Trying the fit of other explanations, he came to believe that Costa had grounds for thinking he had remembered a previous life.


  Bianca Battista


  A report of this case appeared first in the Italian magazine Ultra in 1911 (Battista, 1911). The report consisted of a letter written by the subject’s father, Florinda Battista, who was a captain in the Italian army. Delanne (1924) reprinted the letter in French. I made the following translation into English.


  The Report


  
    In August 1905 my wife was three months pregnant when, lying in bed and fully awake, she had an apparitional experience that profoundly affected her. Our little daughter, who had died three years earlier, unexpectedly appeared to her with childlike joyousness and quietly said the following words: “Mama. I am coming back.” Before my wife could recover from her surprise, the figure disappeared.

  


  
    When I returned home and my wife, still much moved by her experience, told me about it, I thought at first that she had had a hallucination. At the same time I did not wish to deprive her of the conviction she had of having received some kind of communication from Heaven; and so I agreed immediately to her request that we give the baby that was to be born the name of the older deceased sister: Bianca. At that time I had no knowledge of what I learned much later of Theosophy, and I would have considered quite mad anyone who spoke to me about reincarnation. I was quite convinced that a person dies once and does not come back.

  


  
    Six months later, in February 1906, my wife gave birth to a baby girl who resembled in every particular her older sister. She had the same large dark eyes and thick, curly hair. These features did not affect my materialistic stance; but my wife, delighted with the favor she had received, believed that a miracle had occurred and that she had given birth to the same child twice. This child is now about six years old and has, like her deceased sister, developed precociously both emotionally and intellectually. Both these girls could clearly pronounce the word “Mama” when they were seven months old, whereas our other daughters, although they were no less intelligent, could not say this word until they were twelve months old.

  


  
    For the better understanding of what I am going to describe next, I should mention here that during the lifetime of the first Bianca we had a Swiss servant called Mary, who spoke only French. She had brought from her native mountains a sort of cantilena, a kind of lullaby. It acted as if it came from the head of Morpheus, such was its soporific effect when she sang it to our little daughter. After that child’s death Mary returned to her country, and we shut out all memory of the lullaby, which tended to remind us of our lost child. Nine years passed away and we had completely forgotten about the lullaby; then an extraordinary event revived our memory of it. A week ago, I was with my wife in my study, adjoining the bedroom, when we both distinctly heard the lullaby, like a distant echo. The sound came from the bedroom near us. At first, both moved and puzzled, we did not recognize the song as coming from our child. Looking into the bedroom, however, we saw our daughter, the second Bianca, sitting up on the bed and singing the lullaby with the most perfect French accent. We had certainly never taught it to her. My wifetrying not to show any surpriseasked her what she was singing. Bianca said that it was a French song. She did not know a word of French apart from a few her sisters had taught her. Then I asked her: “Who taught you this song?” Bianca replied: “No one. I just know it by myself.” Then she continued singing it like someone who had never sung anything else in her life.

  


  
    From the facts that I have carefully reported, readers may choose whatever interpretation they wish. As for me, I have reached the following conclusion: The dead come back.

  


  Alessandrina Samonà


  The father of the subject of this case published the first report of it (Samonà, 1911). He was also the father of the older daughter of whom he believed his younger daughter was the reincarnation. The report generated some discussion among those who read it because of the short intervalabout 8 monthsbetween the death of the older daughter and the subject’s birth. Carmelo Samonà published further information about the case when the subject was about 2 years old (Samonà, 1913a). He also replied to criticism concerning the short interval between the death and presumed rebirth (Samonà, 1913b, 1914). Subsequently, he sent a report about the subject’s further development to Charles Lancelin, who later included this information in a book (Lancelin, 1922). This book contained an account of the only imaged memory the subject had expressed in words.


  The Report


  Both the children principally concerned in this case were called Alessandrina, and for easier distinction between them I will call them Alessandrina I and Alessandrina II. Their parents were Carmelo Samonà, a physician of Palermo, Italy, and his wife, Adele. They also had three sons.


  Alessandrina I died of meningitis at the age of about 5, on March 15, 1910. Three days after the child’s death her grief-stricken mother dreamed of her dead daughter, who said to her: “Mother, do not cry. I have not left you, only withdrawn. Look! I am going to become small like this.” As she said this, she gestured to show the small size of a baby. Then she added: “You will have to suffer again for me.” Three days later Adele Samonà had the same dream.10 One of her friends suggested that the dream foretold the reincarnation of Alessandrina I. At this point Adele knew nothing about reincarnation and even after reading a book on the subject that her friend brought to her she remained unpersuaded of its possibility. She had had a miscarriage in 1909 and a related surgical operation; subsequently, she still had some uterine bleeding. These events made her doubtful that she could ever become pregnant again.


  Some days after the two dreams when Carmelo Samonà was trying to comfort his inconsolable wife they heard three loud knocks as if someone was at the front door. Their three sons, who were with them at the time, also heard the knocks. They thought their aunt Caterina (Carmelo Samonà’s sister), who often visited at this hour, had arrived, and they opened the door expecting to see her. No one was there.


  The episode of the knocks stimulated the Samonàs to undertake amateur mediumistic seances.11 (Samonà’s report does not state how they went about this or which one of several family members who participated was regarded as the responsible medium.) They received communications appearing to come from Alessandrina I and also from a deceased sister of Carmelo Samonà called Giannina, who had died many years before at the age of 15. In these communications the purported Alessandrina I said that she had made the knocks the family had heard earlier in order to draw attention to herself. She continued to reassure her mother that she would be returning and said that this would be before Christmas. She wanted all her family and friends to know about her returning. She repeated this so often that Carmelo Samonà began to find the mediumistic sessions tedious. He believed that the Alessandrina communicator had become monoideistic with her concern that everyone should be told about her coming back.


  On April 10 Adele Samonà became aware that she was pregnant. (The report does not say how she knew this.) At a mediumistic session on May 4, the Alessandrina I communicator said, somewhat confusedly, that there was someone else around her mother. The Samonàs did not understand this until the other communicator, Giannina, explained that there was a second being who wished to be reborn as their child. At later sessions the Alessandrina I communicator said she was to be born along with a sister; and the Giannina communicator told the Samonàs that the reborn Alessandrina would closely resemble Alessandrina I.


  After a time the mediumistic communications ceased. The Alessandrina I communicator had previously explained that there could be no communications from her after the 3rd month of pregnancy, because she (the Alessandrina I communicator) would after that time “be more and more attached to ‘matter’ and sleeping.”


  In August an obstetrician examined Adele and found that she was pregnant with twins. The remainder of her pregnancy was not free of troublesome symptoms, but these ceased and, on November 22, 1910, she gave birth to twin girls. Immediately, one of the babies was seen to have a remarkable physical similarity to Alessandrina I, and she was given the same name, thus becoming Alessandrina II. Her sister was called Maria Pace. Carmela Samonà concluded his first report of the case by describing three physical features in which Alessandrina II resembled Alessandrina I and differed from Maria Pace: hyperemia of the left eye, seborrhea of the right ear, and a slight asymmetry of the face.


  In support of his statements Samonà published (as a supplement to his report) several letters from members of his family and friends who testified that they had learned before the twins were born about Adele’s dreams, the three knocks, and the subsequent mediumistic sessions, including the prediction of the birth of twin girls before Christmas. Of these corroborations that of Samonà’s sister Caterina has the greatest value, because she visited her brother and sister-in-law almost daily and would have learned quickly of each development in the case.


  In the summer of 1913 Alessandrina II and Maria Pace were 2½ years old. Carmelo Samonà then published a second report in which he emphasized the behavioral similarities between the two Alessandrinas (Samonà, 1913a). Both Alessandrinas were generally quiet, and they would sit contentedly in their mother’s lap; Maria Pace, although no less affectionate toward their mother, was somewhat restless and would come to her mother and soon go off again to play with her toys. The Alessandrinas had little interest in toys, but liked to play with other children. Both the Alessandrinas had phobias of loud noises and of barbers, and they both disliked cheese in any form. Maria Pace did not have these traits. The Alessandrinas both enjoyed folding and smoothing clothing or other cloth, such as sheets and towels. They also liked to play with shoes and sometimes played at putting on shoes that were obviously too large for them. Maria Pace did not engage in these kinds of plays.


  Both Alessandrinas sometimes spoke about themselves in the third person. They would say, for example, “Alessandrina is afraid.” They also had a habit of playfully modifying names, for example by calling their Aunt Caterina, “Caterana.” Maria Pace did not show such verbal oddities.


  In 1913 the physical similarities between the two Alessandrinas had become more obvious than they had been when the twins were born. In his second report Carmelo Samonà published photographs of Alessandrina I at the age of 3 years and 8 months and of the twins at 2 years of age (Samonà, 1913a). The photographs show the facial asymmetry of the Alessandrinas. In both of them the left eye is appreciably closer to the midline than the right eye and the left labial commissure is shorter than the right one. Maria Pace did not have these asymmetries of the face.12 Carmelo Samonà considered that Alessandrina II resembled Alessandrina I “perfectly,” except that she was a little fairer than her deceased older sister. Both Alessandrinas were left-handed; but Maria Pace and all other members of the family were right-handed.


  The reports of this case received some attention in Europe, at least among readers of spiritualist literature. Among these was Charles Lancelin, who corresponded with Carmelo Samonà about the case of his twins. Lancelin reproduced in a book a letter he had received from Carmelo Samonà that was dated March 20, 1921 (Lancelin, 1922). This letter referred to the continuing differences between the twins and the persistent resemblance of Alessandrina II to Alessandrina I. Alessandrina II had in the meantime developed an interest in “spiritual matters” and sometimes meditated; she had little interest in domestic affairs. In contrast, Maria Pace liked to play with her dolls and was interested in housekeeping.


  Carmelo Samonà included in his letter a report of the only occasion in which Alessandrina II had mentioned any event in the previous life. I quote the relevant paragraphs from the letter (which I have translated from the French):


  
    Two years ago [when the twins would have been 89 years old] we were discussing with the twins taking them on an excursion to Monreale [a town 10 kilometers southwest of Palermo]. As you know, Monreale has the most magnificent Norman church in the world. My wife told our girls “when you go to Monreale, you will see some sights you have never seen before.” Alessandrina [II] replied: “But mama, I know Monreale. I have already seen it.” My wife then told her that she had never been to Monreale. Alessandrina [II] replied: “Yes, I have. I have been there. Don’t you remember that there is a great church there with a huge man on the roof with his arms spread out.” (Here she gestured with her own arms spread apart.) “And do you not remember how we went there with a lady who had horns, and we met some small priests who wore red?”

  


  
    We had absolutely no memory of ever having spoken to the twins about Monreale; Maria Pace knew nothing about the place. Nevertheless, we thought that some other member of the family could have spoken about its great church with its statue of Jesus on the portal; but we could not at first make any sense of the “lady with horns” and “the priests in red.” Then suddenly my wife remembered that we had gone to Monreale and taken Alessandrina [I] with us. This was a few months before our daughter died. We had also taken a friend of ours who lived elsewhere and who had come to Palermo to consult the doctors here about some excrescences on her forehead. Also, just as we were going into the church we happened to meet some Orthodox priests who were wearing blue robes ornamented with red. We then further remembered that these details had much impressed Alessandrina [I].

  


  
    Even if we suppose that one of us had spoken to Alessandrina [II] about the church at Monreale, it is not believable that such a person would have mentioned the “lady with horns” or “the priests dressed in red,” because these were features of no interest to us.

  


  Comment


  As I mentioned, contemporary commentators on this case faulted it for the short interval8 monthsbetween the death of Alessandrina I and the birth of Alessandrina II. The critics noted that Adele Samonà only became aware that she was pregnant on April 10, 1910, which, assuming she had become pregnant a week or so before, would make the duration of the pregnancy perhaps not much more than 7 months. A gestation of that length, however, is not incompatible with survival of twin babies. In one of his replies to critics who asserted that the presumed gestation was too short, Samonà quoted several texts of obstetrics which mentioned the common occurrence of prematurity in twin pregnancies (Samonà, 1914). A recently published monograph on twins has affirmed this (Segal, 1999).


  Commentators on the case also suggested that it might have developed from a maternal impression13 on the part of Adele Samonà acting on her gestating daughter who, to satisfy her intense grief, she identified as the reincarnation of Alessandrina I.14 This explanation will take us some distance, but seems insufficient to explain the detailed knowledge that Alessandrina II had of the visit by Alessandrina I to Monreale.15


  Blanche Courtain


  This case was first published in 1911 in Le Messager de Liège, a spiritualist publication. The author of the article derived his information from the subject’s father, P. Courtain, who was then a retired mechanic, formerly employed in the state railway system of Belgium. The family lived at Pont-à-Celles, which is a village in the area of Charleroi, about 40 kilometers south of Brussels.


  Delanne (1924) reprinted the report and I have translated the following from his work:


  The Report


  
    The family concerned in this case knew absolutely nothing about spiritualism when the case I am reporting occurred. They became convinced of its truth by the events I shall describe. This family are entirely reliable people. Among their children they had two daughters who were then aged 7 and 5. The younger daughter was called Blanche. She had delicate health. From time to time she told her parents that she was seeing “spirits.” She described her maternal and paternal grandparents who had all died about 15 years before Blanche was born. Blanche’s parents thought her visions were perhaps a symptom of an illness, and they took her to see a doctor in Gouy-lez-Piétons. The doctor questioned Blanche, examined her, and then gave her parents some medicine to give her. The visit and medicine cost 7½ francs.

  


  
    The next day….Blanche said to her parents in a determined way: “I won’t take that medicine the doctor prescribed for me.” “Why is that?” said her father. “Do you mean to throw away 7½ francs? You should take the medicine.” “No,” said Blanche. “I won’t take it. There is someone near me who tells me he will get me well without that medicine. Besides, I know what to do myself. I was a pharmacist.” “You were a pharmacist?” her parents said. They were stunned and asked themselves whether Blanche had become mad. “Yes,” said Blanche. “I was a pharmacist in Brussels.” She then gave the street and number of the pharmacy. “If you don’t believe me, go and see for yourselves. There is still a pharmacy there and the door of the place is completely white.”

  


  
    Blanche’s parents did not know what to say or do about her statements and for some time they did not talk about the matter. One day, about two years later, Blanche’s older sister was to go into Brussels, and her parents suggested that Blanche also go. “Yes,” said Blanche, “I will go and take my sister to the place I told you about.” “But you don’t know Brussels,” her parents said. To this Blanche replied: “That makes no difference. Once I am there I will show my sister the way.”

  


  
    The journey was made as planned. When the two sisters reached the railway station at Brussels, the older one said to Blanche: “Now show me the way.” “All right,” said Blanche, “Come on. It is this way.” They walked for some time and then Blanche said: “This is the street. Look! There is the house and you can see that it is a pharmacy.” Her sister, amazed, found that everything Blanche had saidthe street, the number of the house, and the color of the doorwere exactly as Blanche had described. No detail was incorrect.

  


  Comment


  In the 19th and 20th centuries spiritualists of the European continent generally believed in reincarnation. (Those of Great Britain did not.) The reporter of this case saw no need to include additional details in his account and probably never asked for any.


  A reader of this report thought it improbable that children only 9 and 7 years old would be allowed to travel by themselves in a railway train to Brussels. The reporter of the case said nothing about this. The journey would have lasted an hour or less, and I can suppose that the children’s father asked the train’s conductor to give the children help, if they needed it. Apparently they did not.


  Laure Raynaud


  A report of this case was first published in Psychic Magazine in its issue of January 1914. The author was Dr. Gaston Durville, a physician of Paris. (I have not seen this first report.) Subsequently, Lancelin (1922) and Delanne (1924) published extracts from Durville’s report. On comparing the two later reports, which cite long extracts from the earlier one of Durville, I found that, although they agree on the essentials, each contains some details omitted in the other. I have therefore drawn on both in what follows.


  The Report


  Laure Raynaud was born in the village of Aumont, near Amiens, France, in 1868. Her mother later told Durville that Laure even as a young child rebelled against the teachings of the Roman Catholic Church. She rejected the ideas of heaven, hell, and purgatory, saying that after death one returns to earth in another body. Her parents had to force her to attend Mass. The parish priest used to visit and listen to her fascinated, but then he went away nonplused and annoyed. For her part, Laure Raynaud found it prudent to stop challenging conventional beliefs.


  At the age of 17 she decided to become a healer and practiced as such for a time in Amiens. Later, she moved to Paris where she first learned “magnetism” (a precursor of hypnosis) in the school of Hector Durville. (I think Hector was a relative, perhaps a brother, of Gaston Durville.) She then continued to work as a healer. For the last 2 years of her life (191113) Gaston Durville employed her in his clinic in Paris. She had married in 1904. Durville’s report does not suggest that Laure Raynaud spoke about specific memories of a previous life when she was a child. Her husband told Durville that Laure had spoken to him about such memories from the time of their first acquaintance. By the time she began working for Durville she was speaking freely about the memories to anyone who would listen. Durville, although skeptical, did listen.


  Laure Raynaud stated the following details of what she asserted were memories of a previous life.


  1.She had lived in a sunny climate, somewhere in the south, perhaps Egypt or Italy. (She thought the country was more probably Italy.)


  2.She lived in a large house, much larger than ordinary houses.


  3.The house had many large windows.


  4.The tops of the windows were arched.


  5.There was a large terrace at the house.


  6.The house had two stories.


  7.At the top of the house there was another terrace.


  8.The house was located in a large park with old trees in it.


  9.The ground sloped down in front of the house and sloped upwards behind it.


  10.She had some serious “chest disease” and coughed much.


  11.Near the large house there was a cluster of small houses where workers lived.


  12.She was about 25 years old.


  13.This life had occurred about a century earlier.


  The images of this life seemed entirely clear to Laure Raynaud. She particularly dwelt on scenes of walking up and down on the large terrace and wandering in the park, all the time feeling unwell. She experienced herself as being depressed and irritable, perhaps embittered by her illness, and afraid of impending death.


  Laure Raynaud remembered no name of the previous lifeeither of persons or of specific places. She was sure, however, that she could recognize the house where she had lived if she ever saw it.


  In March 1913 one of Durville’s wealthy patients, who lived in Genoa, asked him to come there to examine and treat her. He was too busy to leave Paris then and instead asked Laure Raynaud to go to Genoa and do what she could for the patient. Laure Raynaud agreed and left by train for Italy. Upon arrival in Turin she began to have a sense of familiarity with the countryside through which the train passed; and this feeling became stronger when she reached Genoa. At Genoa she mentioned to the persons with whom she was staying her belief that she had had a previous life in this region. She spoke of her wish to find the house she described. One of her hosts, Piero Carlotti, said that he knew a house in the outskirts of Genoa that seemed to correspond to her description, and he offered to take her there. She accepted and they drove to this house in an automobile. Laure Raynaud said this particular house was not the one she remembered, but that one, she thought, was nearby. So they drove on and came to a large mansion that Laure Raynaud recognized as “hers.” It belonged to a well-known Genoese family, the Spontinis. The house corresponded closely to Laure Raynaud’s description. Its dominant feature was a large number of unusually tall windows whose upper ends were arched. There was a broad terrace around the lower level of the house and a small terrace at its top. Figure 1 reproduces a photograph of the house, which was originally published by Lancelin (1922). It shows these features. One detail does not seem to correspond.


  

  [image: ]


  Figure 1.House of Giovanna Spontini near Genoa, Italy, recognized by Laure Raynaud. (From Lancelin, 1922.)



  The photograph of the house shows that it had three stories, although it is possible, given the sloping ground, that one story may have been a kind of basement. The photograph does not illustrate the park and its trees or show the slopes in front of the house and behind it. Lancelin, however, described these slopes as according with Laure Raynaud’s description.16


  Satisfied that they had located the house of Laure Raynaud’s previous life, she and Piero Carlotti returned to Genoa. Back there Laure Raynaud seemingly retrieved another memory she had not had before. She said that she was certain that in the previous life her body was buried not in the cemetery, but in the church itself. Piero Carlotti reported this item to Gaston Durville, who initiated a search of the records of the parish where the Spontini family lived. A correspondent in Genoa found the following record and sent it to Durville:


  
    October 23, 1809. Giovanna Spontini, widow of Benjamino Spontini, who lived for several years in her home, who was chronically ill and whose state of health recently gave rise to much concern after she caught a severe chill, died on the 21st of this month. She had been strengthened by all the offices of the church and today with our written permission and that of the mayor her body was brought with a private ceremony into the church of Notre-Dame-du-Mont.

  


  Laure Raynaud died a few months after she returned from Genoa to Paris, toward the end of 1913.


  Gaston Durville concluded his report of Laure Raynaud’s claimed memories with the following statement: “So, is this then a case of reincarnation? I have to say that I know nothing about the subject, but I believe the reincarnationist hypothesis is no more absurd than any other” (Lancelin, 1922, p. 373; Delanne, 1924, p. 297).


  Comment


  Laura Raynaud’s failure to state specifying names obliges us to consider the likelihood of chance in the correspondence between her statements and the details obtained about the life of Giovanna Spontini and the house in which she lived near Genoa. The details of Laure Raynaud’s description of the house are all, save one, correct for the one she identified. Yet they are not independent of each other, and all could probably be found in other Italian mansions of the Renaissance style. If, however, we add to these details those of a chronically ill proprietress whose dead body was placed inside a church instead of in a cemetery, the likelihood of coincidence diminishes substantially.


  Georg Neidhart


  In 1924 the subject of this case, then 26 years old, became depressed and during this condition experienced a series of images that he believed derived from a previous life in the Bavarian Forest during the 12th century. He spent several years, first in trying to find the location of this life, and then in efforts to verify some of the details in his images. He believed that he had succeeded in this. He thought that he had lived a life at the castle of Weissenstein, near Regen, Bavaria. For some time he told no one else about his experience and his conclusions concerning it; but eventually he began to tell other persons about them. Later, he published a booklet about reincarnation in which he included a detailed report of his own experience and his efforts at verifying it (Neidhart, 1957).


  In the meantime, he had read extensively in the literature of psychical research and spiritualism. He founded a small society to discuss paranormal and spiritual experiences and participated in sittings with mediums. He sometimes gave lectures about his experiences.


  In 1927 he married his second wife, Anneliese, and in 1936 their only child, Angelika, was born.


  I learned of this case in the early 1960s and met Georg Neidhart together with his wife (Anneliese) and daughter (Angelika) at their home in Munich, first in May 1964 and again in October 1965. Georg Neidhart died in 1966.


  Subsequently, I visited Anneliese and Angelika Neidhart from time to time when I was in Munich, where, among other researches, I used the Staatsbibliothek to study relevant sources of information for this case.


  In April 1971 I went to Regen, accompanied by Anneliese Neidhart. The mayor’s office kindly arranged for Alfons Schubert, an expert on Regen, the castle of Weissenstein, and the surrounding area, to give us an extensive guided tour. As I shall explain later, the castle, except for the tower, was only a ruin, and I do not claim to have learned anything new by visiting it.


  The Report


  I shall present here my translation of Georg Neidhart’s own account of his experience in having the memories of a previous life.


  
    My life began in May 1898. It did not differ in essential matters from that of millions of other people. It was defined by the circumstances into which I was born, mainly the economic condition of my parents and the general political situation of the time. Since my parents were Roman Catholics, I was raised in this faith. During my time at secondary school, my religious training was made deeper and more enduring by an extraordinarily good, unforgettable instructor in religion. And while my excellent mother lovingly attended to the welfare of my soul, my rather stern father held me to conscientious punctuality and a sense of responsibility. Altogether during childhood I had few unmet needs.

  


  
    After attending secondary school, I began to learn my father’s trade [that of a copper-smith]. At the outbreak of the First World War, however, I had to give up my apprenticeship. I was still under 19 when called up for service in the [German] Imperial Navy. With this change in outer circumstances my spiritual life also took a turn of fundamental importance.

  


  
    In the Navy I was trained to be a radio operator and then assigned on fishing steamers and on various “suicide patrols” in the Baltic Sea. After not quite 2 years of war service full of many changes and dangers, I was demobilized on January 1, 1919.

  


  
    Upon returning to Munich, my native city, I found a completely changed situation. The political barometers pointed to storms. A revolution was going on and bullets whipped the air. Dead bodies, including some of children, mostly innocent victims, lay around the street and offered a gruesome spectacle. And then the inflation that soon set in ruined every plan. As a consequence I had to abandon the idea of becoming an engineer. Then came my journeyman’s examination, my [first] marriage, the birth of a daughter, and the death of my wifeall within less than 2 years. When these were over, I was still under 25 years old.17

  


  
    These were terrible blows that Destiny had struck me in such a brief time. Joy and sufferingthe eternal, changing opposites of man’s existence had seemed to unite during these days. And naturally these fateful years were not without effects. The belief in an impersonal, incomprehensible but just Creator had become fundamentally shattered. Doubts rose up and became stronger than the previous belief. I could see no way to reach the perfect love and mercy of God. My opposition to God had grown so great that my prayers were more a struggle with the question of the basic justice of God than a petition offered meekly.

  


  
    In this state of spiritual conflict I tried more and more to forget my own particular blows of fate which, however, I still thought of as being unjust knocks. Nevertheless, and despite my efforts, the whole question of a Divine justice and love kept coming back to me. It would not be suppressed and absorbed me completely. My confessor of those days thought he understood my trouble, and his well-meant admonitions and encouragements directed me to turn back toward an earnest petitioning and even imploring of almighty God.

  


  
    While this struggle went on inside me, I had completely changed the outer conditions of my life. I had no place of my own to live in, and a friend let me live with him. My life began to resemble that of a hermit more than one of a businessman or artisan. In a circle of friends which I joined we talked about Christian mysticism and other religious problems. We also sang religious songs eagerly. We very rarely met without singing at least one or more religious songs. We also started a library for ourselves. It consisted, however, chiefly of the Bible, books on Christian mysticism, other religious writings, and song books.

  


  
    During this period I underwent an experience which affected me deeply and totally transformed me. I completely forgot all my suffering and abandoned my quarrel with Fate. I was remade into another, completely different persona man who now understood why Fate had struck him so hard.

  


  
    The experience began on a spring morning, a clear, serene day that will remain in my memory forever. On this day I had an inner experience that was utterly new for me. In an unusual manner I had similar experiences at particular times over the ensuing years and even decades.

  


  
    I have even now an excellent ability to recover memories. Only names give me some difficulty. Since that spring morning I have known that it is possible to remember, that one can cross the threshold of birth and experience visual and even auditory images of events lying in another time period centuries ago. I was definitely not dreaming. I enjoy sound, deep and always dreamless sleep. And the night before this particular first experience was completely dreamless also. The day itself began like any other. I had had my breakfast, and I was in no way disturbed in my thoughts. My senses and thoughts were clear. Nothing gave any indication of anything unusual, such as what occurred during the ensuing hours.

  


  
    In this completely unprepared state there arose into my mind an absolutely astonishing mixture of images from a time period of centuries earlier. The whole experience was so peculiar and so overwhelming that I determined to make a record of it in writing. I did not expect, however that this decision [to make a written record] would have any particular consequence. Ten days, including however some periods of sleeplessness at night, went by before I finished the sequence and came to the end [of the images].

  


  
    What I had by that time written down gave the main events of a former lifein various scenes and imageswith some of the associated principal and secondary people involved. The details of dates, names, and places gave the whole series a degree of plausibility. I felt completely identified with the scenes experienced. I was living, weeping, laughing, and fighting as the principal figure of the whole picture. It was no event from outside that was somehow affecting or influencing me. Instead, it was something which rose up from the deepest layers inside me. When I reflect now on the whole experience, I cannot understand it in any other way.

  


  
    Later on, I read and studied well anything I could find written in books or articles on parapsychology, mysticism, the scientific study of religion, and similar philosophical problems. And today I still read everything that I find printed on these subjects.

  


  
    The intensive study of such books and articles gave me the idea not only of the possibility of definitely verifying my experience, but that of advancing knowledge in this field beyond where it was. That idea helped me also because it was only in this way [through my efforts to verify the experience] that I arrived at the firm conclusion that I had not fallen into a delusional state on the days when I had had these unusual experiences.

  


  
    My misfortunes had taught me that one must always finish things by oneself. This led me to decide to find out the truth of my experience by myself.

  


  
    As I have already indicated, I had the definite feeling that these inner visions referred to a previous existence of myself. And in relation to that life the question of divine justice seemed to be answered, and I decided that earthly existences have a sort of guilt-penance course that extends over several earthly existences. In fact, I believe one can even go further. It seems to me that I have ties at present with persons who were living then [in the days of the inner visions] and are living again now and somehow fatefully tied into my present life. That belief, however, does not by itself lead to a detailed and precise understanding. And so now, in the spirit of science, I shall go into more detail. From the notes that I made at the time of the experience I shall now present an account of those portions [of the experience] that have seemed to me valid and susceptible of confirmation.

  


  
    We have to start with the year [A.D.] 1150 because this actually appears in my notes and I believe that this year provides the starting point for my investigations. It certainly is no small matter that we are considering an interval of 775 years.18 We have to take into account that almost noor very fewpersons of historical importance are figures in the events related [to the inner visions]. Similarly the whole region [where the events took place] was very little known [elsewhere] at the time, a fact which made investigation particularly difficult.

  


  
    My memories begin with the description of the castle around the year 1150 as it is shown in my sketch.19 It stands on a mountain on top of jagged rocks and has a trapezoid shape made necessary by the rock formation. Entrance to the castle is provided only by a wooden drawbridge which crosses an extremely deep moat that winds around the mountain. One reaches the courtyard of the castle through a gate with a portcullis. Inside, on the right and on the small side of the castle area, a strong four-sided tower rises up above the steep rocky cliff. Its flat upper level surface, surrounded with battlements offers a wide view of the surrounding territory. On the two long sides of the rugged and almost vertically steep cliffs the living quarters [of the castle] rise up. They are large, multi-storied buildings which are strongly built into the depths [of the cliffs] as well as above them. A double-sided outside staircase leads to the upper portions of one [of these buildings]. Opposite the outside staircase is a wooden draw-well with a stone border wall. The plan and building of the castle reveal a definite boldness which unquestionably give an impression of something quite extraordinary if not unique.

  


  
    My “inner visions” take me from Munich, where I was living, in a northeasterly direction, across the Danube into an area that was lonely, undeveloped, mountainous and covered with primeval forest. The mountains seem all thickly forested. Not far from the castle, a small river winds through the country and eventually, after a very circuitous course, finally reaches the Danube. On the north side of the Danube a chain of tall hills dominates the castle. If one approaches it from the west it is difficult to find.

  


  
    I did not get the name of the castle in the “inner visions.” I only got the impression that it was near a highway that was much traveled in 1150. There were also two other roads that crossed each other near the castle. But they were unimportant and could be considered mere paths.

  


  
    In my “inner vision” I stand on a high four-cornered tower and look at the surrounding area of country. One sees only mountains and forests. The tower is erected on top of jagged rocks which are overgrown with ferns. The side of the mountain is covered with huge spruces and firs which block the view. In the distance on the other side of a rather dark shining river I can see another, similar tower. Otherwise there is nothing else to see. There are no houses or anything else in the way of human habitation. When I look from the tower into the courtyard, I can see on the right side of the wooden bridge the entrance to a secret passageway cut into the rocks.

  


  
    Next in the experience the following events occurred. In the castle courtyard, surrounded by men and women, two men dressed in the costume of the early Middle Ages and armed were quarreling. The quarrel was about freedom and justice. Harsh and in fact insulting words are exchanged. And it becomes unmistakable from their increasingly menacing attitudes that the two quarreling men have in fact been feuding for a long time. One of these quarrelers, evidently the aggressor, is called Kühneberg, and the other is called von Falkenstein. I feel myself living now everything that happened to Kühneberg in 1150. I live what happens to him and what provokes him to anger.

  


  
    Kühneberg is a battler for freedom and justice. In the quarrel, which takes a dangerous turn, he calls von Falkenstein a “foreigner” and a “vassal.” He reproaches him with being a mere compliant “footstool” of the clerical power, and accuses him of viciously trying to win the favor of the woman he has chosen for a wife. The bystanders are unable to check the heated dispute and bring the two “fighting cocks” back to reason. Finally the two men draw their swords. A fierce duel ensues in which von Falkenstein is beaten and left to die of his wounds where he falls. The death of the official von Falkenstein shapes the later life of Kühneberg. As experienced in the later parts of the “inner visions,” Kühneberg is a determined opponent of the arrogance and encroachments of episcopal vassals, and he carries on his struggle with every means at his disposal.

  


  
    Through his marriage and a clever maneuver against his drunkard father-in-law, he is able to increase the strength of his position considerably. The leader of the men now united to him by marriage [i.e., Kühneberg’s father-in-law], however, disapproved of the roughness and immoderation of Kühneberg’s methods. Kühneberg’s hate knew no limits. The “civic regulations” that were coming into force, the springing up of monasteries and towns, and antagonism toward unjust taxes increased his hatred beyond all bounds.

  


  
    So he decides to make the few roads that approached the surrounding settlements unsafe by carrying out raids on them. He hopes in this way to provoke his enemy [the bishop] to attack him, knowing that he is unassailable in his castle and can easily resist any attack there. In short, Kühneberg becomes with his followers an outlaw and brigand. In order to bind his followers closely to him he promises them liberal shares of the booty. His wife and some of the sensible people around him try to hold him back from the increasingly violent expressions of his rage. Their efforts are fruitless. He considers that his methods are the only correct ones. Gradually the conduct of the castle’s inhabitants becomes more uncontrolled and savage. This is specially the case with his close adherents. Finally a rebellion breaks out within the castle. Even his own wife joins the opposition to him. A small group of her trusted followers led by [a man called] Arnet take a definite position against her husband. Kühneberg crushes this rebellion. In doing so he wins over his wife’s trusted confidante, who develops a passionate attachment to him.

  


  
    It is a dry year, and a shortage of water develops inside the castle. Its enemies approach and finally besiege the castle. Kühneberg’s wife [Wulfhilde] dies under mysterious circumstances. Discontent spreads among the besieged people and discord increases. The obscure death of Wulfhilde, Kühneberg’s wife, deepens the division within his followers even more. The split [between the groups] steadily increases and finally threatens their survival. In desperation from the emergency Kühneberg resolves to attempt a sortie from the castle. He throws himself at his enemies and in fierce combat meets his death.

  


  
    In the “inner visions” the names of the persons whose lives were entwined in the Fate of the fierce lord of the castle came into consciousness. The principal protagonists, as already mentioned, were von Falkenstein and Kühneberg. Kühneberg’s father-in-law was called Höchting and his daughter was called Wulfhilde. Eva was Wulfhilde’s confidante, and Arnet was the chief of the men joined to Kühneberg by his marriage.

  


  
    The men in these events lived largely in the saddle. As I have also already indicated, the forests around the castle were still untouched by man, generally quite impenetrable and inhabited by bears and wolves. In addition the customs and manners of the time as well as the objects and other details of the scenes, which I included in my notes, harmonized with the date mentioned [1150] and offered clues for a reliable verification.
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  Figure 2.Sketch of castle made by Georg Neidhart in 1924. From Werden Wir Wiedergeboren? (Courtesy of Angelika Neidhart.)



  
    Within just a few weeks of making my notes about my experience, I set off to visit the Bavarian Forest. It was the first time I had ever been in the area. I remained there for 6 weeks. That length of time, however, was still insufficient. I had to return to the Forest several more times. Research into events that took place almost 800 years ago is not simple, as I soon discovered. New difficulties seemed always to be cropping up.

  


  
    The Bavarian Forest was in those days [1924] not much opened up, largely trackless, and therefore visited very little. It could happen to a traveler that the road he was traveling along suddenly stopped and became just an ill-defined path. It could even happen that such a path itself could lead into an absolutely impenetrable forest, or a swamp, and just end.

  


  
    So it seemed that if these “memories” were not delusional, but contained elements of real experiences, then perhaps I could find the place of the previous life by following my intuition. From inquiries I had learned that in the neighborhood of Regen20 there was a considerably decayed ruin of a castle. So I decided to start out from the railway station at Regen by myself, without asking anyone where the castle ruins were. I thought this might be a test of just how accurate my seeming memories were.

  


  
    There was a torrential rain falling as I set out from Regen on this adventure. I did not stay on any road, but listened to an inner guidance for direction. Soon I was climbing up a narrow path which led up a steep mountain through a thick almost impenetrable forest. It was a rather tiring journey. Giant tree trunks were all around. I had to go around or climb over huge rocks, and ferns as tall as a man slapped my face. Finally I came out into the open on the peak of a mountain. I was standing in front of the ruins of the once proud castle which had been erected on high, much fissured quartz rocks, standing defiantly above the surrounding region. Of the castle only the tower remained standing. It, however, had been considerably restored. By means of a somewhat unfirm wooden staircase, I climbed to the top of the tower to see the view of the surrounding area. Of the two high main buildings of the castle [seen in the vision; see Figure 2] I could only make out definitely the parts of them attached to the tower. However, from the shape of the peculiar and extremely hard rock cliffs, it was really impossible for the building complex to have had any other shape than a trapezoid one, as I had outlined it in the sketch I made at the time of having my memories. And if this was the case, then the secret passageway (about which I had also made a note) must be located near the main gate.21 I found it quickly and was able to proceed, in a stooped position, about 80 to 100 meters along it. Farther penetration was prevented by a general caving in of the tunnel. (When I went to visit the ruins again in 1957, even the part that had previously been open had been filled with rubbish.)

  


  
    According to information given me by some residents of Regen, this secret passageway descended in a steep course from the castle, then went underground for several kilometers and actually under the river bed22 until it finally came out on a thickly wooded mountain peak at the other side of the river. Formerly, inhabitants of the arealong since deadsupposedly knew the course of the secret tunnel. As it became caved in, however, traversing the tunnel was forbidden.

  


  
    In looking around from the top of the tower my attention was particularly focused on the present-day town of Regen. I was especially fascinated by the unusual, massive four-cornered tower of the main church because this tower did not seem to fit into the rest of the building of the church. In the notes I made, as I have mentioned earlier, I had included mention of a tower similar to that of the castle which stood on the other side of the river from it. Understandably this unusual and evidently extremely high church tower left me eager to have more information about it. No one in the area, however, was able to give me information about the origin of this church tower.23 Neither the ministers nor teachers seemed informed about it. I was advised to apply to the office of the archbishop in Passau [the nearest large town and seat of an archbishop].

  


  
    At the archbishop’s office I was received with politeness and helpfulness, and my story was listened to. However, here also I could learn nothing further about the relevant history of the period around 1150. I was told that all the old records and documents or other sources which could have given definite information about this period had been lost in a fire. I was told nevertheless to apply to the Archives in Trausnitz Castle. [Trausnitz is about 60 kilometers north and slightly west of Regen.]

  


  
    The curator of the archives of Trausnitz Castle was a friendly and obliging official who readily listened to my story, that of a man who thought he had lived at Castle Weissenstein around 1150. Quietly and calmly he followed my account. He did not laugh at me or contradict me. In fact he seemed to be listening with interest. His face only showed puzzlement and even amazement. I shall never forget the words with which he responded to me: “You cannot know all these things, since research on this district is just now getting under way.” Then he told me how difficult and troublesome it had been to put together from scanty family documents even a general impression of the period around 1150. He was particularly impressed by my understanding of the political situation of that period.

  


  Further Information Brought Out in Interviews with Georg Neidhart


  In discussing his experience with me, Georg Neidhart emphasized that the memories came to him like a complete reliving with all attendant emotions. He did not experience the events as if he were watching a motion picture show.


  The life of Kühneberg was unfolded in the scenes of the “inner visions” in a chronological sequence without any repetition.


  When Georg Neidhart was a small child between 5 and 7 years old, he had then had what he later took to be memories of previous lives. They seemed rather mixed up, and he thought memories from different lives were mingled. There was not the orderly sequence he experienced when he was 25 years old during the 10 days of imaged memories he then had.24 Prominent in these childhood memories was a scene with a large four-poster bed of old style and a scene of his own beheading. This last was part of a previous life in France that he thought he later remembered in more detail. He astounded his father by narrating the account of the beheading to him.


  In his report cited above Georg Neidhart mentioned that he had discerned some connections between the persons participating in the events of his memories and persons known to him. He had not, however, inferred any precise conclusions about causal connections between the events in the 12th-century life and his present life. Specifically, he did not interpret the death of his first wife, which had preceded the depressed and skeptical condition in which the memories came to him, as being somehow connected with the 12th-century life. (His restraint in drawing conclusions about such connections impressed me favorably.) He did, however, emerge from the experience with a different view of life and death, and it seems to have been this new view rather than any precise interpretations of the meaning of his memories for the present life that led him to speak of himself as an altered man after the experience.


  Despite his firm conviction that he had lived a previous life, he remained a devout Roman Catholic all his life.


  Independent Verifications of Details in Georg Neidhart’s Experience


  I consulted several sources of information about the history of eastern Bavaria where Castle Weissenstein is located, but I learned little that could verify the details of Georg Neidhart’s experience.


  The records from the Middle Ages of what is now the Bavarian Forest are meager. As Georg Neidhart wrote, the region was little settled and still mainly covered in woods during the 12th century. It was then largely within the domain of the bishopric of Passau. A monastery was found at Rinchnach early in the 12th century. Records first mention the name of Regen in 1149 (Oswald, 1952).


  

  [image: ]


  Figure 3. The ruins of Weissenstein Castle as they appeared in 2001. (Photograph by Daniela Meissner.)



  The castle of Weissenstein (2 kilometers from Regen) was almost certainly built in the 12th century, but no one knows by whom. A primitively developed trade route between Bavaria and Bohemia, which passed by Weissenstein, seems to have been considerably used; and it probably provided the reason for the erection of a castle to protect travelers. We can plausibly suppose, therefore, that the holder of Castle Weissenstein, if he turned outlaw, could find ample plunder from users of the trade route.


  A large fortified tower was erected on the northern side of the River Regen possibly in the 12th century or even earlier (Oswald, 1952). The river now runs through the town of Regen. The fortified tower had no connection with the first church built at Regen. In the late 15th century the tower was incorporated in a newly built parish church.


  Of the several names that came to Georg Neidhart during his “inner visions” only one figures in contemporary records. Von Müller cited a document according to which Konrad von Falkenstein had illegally seized control of a group of communities within the bishopric of Passau (von Müller, 1924). The bishopric comprised a large area, and the document gave no more specifying details. A note suggests that this Konrad von Falkenstein lived in the 13th century, not the 12th, which was the one that Georg Neidhart thought correct. In another source of contemporary records, the name of “Kienberch” occurs in 1130, and later, as probably modified, this is spelled “Kienberger” in the 13th century (Monumenta Boica, 1765). I am unwilling to count these names as verifying the existence of Georg Neidhart’s “Kühneberg,” although they may be.


  As I neared completion of this book I thought that research later than the 1920s, when Georg Neidhart had made his inquiries, might have yielded more information about the early history of Castle Weissenstein. This proved wrong. In April 2001 I wrote to the Stattsarchiv of Landshut at Castle Trausnitz, where Georg Neidhart had sought confirmation almost 60 years earlier. The senior archivist replied that the castle was generally thought to have been built by the Counts of Bogen who were hereditary administrators of the district, but this was conjecture. The lines of the Counts of Bogen died out in 1242, and the castle then came under the direct control of the Dukes of Bavaria. These assumptionsthey can hardly be called factsmake it unlikely that the castle would have been the site for “robber barons” in the 12th century. This, the archivist wrote me, was more likely in the later Middle Ages.
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  Figure 4. The castle of Weissenstein as it appeared in 1726. The buildings had a trapezoid form. (Courtesy of the Municipality of Regen.)



  The ruins of Castle Weissenstein, in the 1920s and later, offer no additional verifications. Barring archeological investigation we cannot now reconstruct how the buildings were originally laid out. The four-sided tower is an exception (See Figure 3). Nevertheless, an engraving of the castle as it appeared in 1726 definitely indicates a trapezoid shape (Hackl, 1950). (See Figure 4.)


  Almost every castle of the period when Weissenstein was built had many of the features Georg Neidhart mentioned, such as a wooden drawbridge, a moat, a portcullis, and a draw-well. (A visitor to the castle in 1633, cited by Oswald [1952] crossed over a wooden bridge, dangerously swaying above the moat, in order to reach the castle. This bridge may have replaced an earlier drawbridge, but we do not know that. One important detail possibly confirmed was the existence in the 12th century of a four-sided tower, similar to that of Weissenstein, on the opposite side of the River Regen.


  In sum, although the sources that Georg Neidhart (and later I) consulted could verify little about the details in his experience, they also furnished no evidence to negate them. His description of life in a castle of the Bavarian Forest during the Middle Ages seems plausible. If this life occurred at Castle Weissenstein, the events he seemed to remember so clearly may have taken place later than he thought.


  Christophe Albret


  The report of this case (Delarrey, 1955) did not include the full name or even a pseudonym for the subject; so I have given him a complete name. The case consists of a mediumistic prediction of the reincarnation of a person known to the author’s wife who was to be recognized by a malformation of his right ear similar to one the communicating person had had.


  In translating the report I have completed other names in places where Delarrey had only furnished initials.


  The case occurred in 1924. It was first published in 1948 in La revue spirite, a spiritualist magazine. A note from the editor of Revue métapsychique explains that Dr. Maurice Delarrey, the author of the report, delayed its publication because it had occurred in a family totally opposed to any endeavors to communicate with deceased persons.


  The Report


  
    At a time when I was still somewhat skeptical about the idea of reincarnation my wife and I engaged in experiments with a kind of ouija board or planchette. I gradually became convinced of the objective reality of the communications we received.

  


  
    One day the planchette, in the hand of my wife, spelled out slowly and with difficulty the letters of the name: Felix. In response to our questions we could not obtain anything further from this communicator at this session. The next day, however, the same name was spelled out and this time the name of the family, Fresnel, was also given.

  


  
    I could not remember ever knowing anyone by this name, but my wife recalled that her father at one time had had a servant with this name; the man was with him for about 10 years. I therefore asked the presumed communicator: “Were you at one time employed by the Boileau family in the village of Renage?” This evoked a definite affirmation.

  


  
    At this point my wife, searching through old memories, recalled the unusual detail that Felix Fresnel had a malformation of his right ear the pinna of which stuck out and forward, somewhat like the ear of a bat. In this it differed from his left ear.

  


  
    It was only at our fourth session that this “spirit” succeeded in communicating more easily so that we could have a kind of conversation. I conjecture that, 20 years after this person’s death, this was perhaps the first time he had tried to communicate with living persons…. At any rate, at each session his responses became more rapid and clearer.

  


  
    At the sixth session, the following exchange occurred between this Felix and ourselves, after he had given his name.

  


  
    Q:What do you wish now?

  


  
    R:I want to say that I am coming back among you soon.

  


  
    Q:Say that again? Among us?

  


  
    R:Yes. At last. In your family.

  


  
    Q:But our family is large and scattered around here and there. Could you at least say in what region you will be born?

  


  
    R:Yes, it will be at Peyron. (Here he gave precise details about the location; readers will understand later why I do not provide the real names.)

  


  
    Q:You mean it will be in the family of our young relative Yves?

  


  
    R:Yes, he already has two daughters.

  


  
    Q:Do you know their names and ages?

  


  
    R:Yes (and he correctly gave their names and exact ages).

  


  
    Q:And do you now know the date of your birth?

  


  
    R:Yes, September 24, in the morning.

  


  
    Q:Fair enough! But if a birth does take place on this precise date this could be just because you can predict it in advance. What will prove to us that the baby really is yourself Felix who is born then and there?

  


  
    R:Miss Jeanne will easily recognize meby my ear.

  


  
    Here I should note that my wife’s name is Jeanne, but at the time Felix Fresnel died we were not married; in fact, we did not even know each other then.

  


  
    After this last session we had no further communication from this personality. I carefully noted, however, the date he had indicated. It was May then, and we were unaware that our young relative was pregnant.

  


  
    On September 24, 1924 at 8 o’clock in the morning I received a telephone call from our relative’s husband, who announced the birth of his son. I had no intention of telling him that we had news of this event 4 months earlier. Given his outlook, he would have thought I had links with diabolic and infernal sources. I also had no intention of doing anything to challenge his sincere beliefs in the teaching of the Roman Catholic Church.

  


  
    It happened that 3 months after the birth of this boy, my wife and I were invited to a family reunion at the home where our Felix had been born with a new name. There was a fair-sized crowd there and the young mother (our relative) was happily showing off her baby son. Having already given birth to two girls, she had had some fear that she might have a third girl. Greeting us, she said: “Come and see our fine boy. He is not, however, accustomed to such a crowd. He is not in a good humor today, which is unlike him. Every time he sees someone new he starts crying and won’t stop. We cannot comfort him.”

  


  
    We went into the room where the baby was. As soon as my wife came near the crib, the baby began to smile, even while tears were still running down his cheeks; and he stretched out his two little hands to my wife, who took him in her arms. He seemed joyous and tryingas much as such a young baby couldto mumble something. Seeing this, the young mother said: “Look at that! One might have thought he knew you.”

  


  
    After the usual compliments I said to our young relative: “What is that bandage on his head for? Does he have some kind of wound?” “Oh no,” she said. “It is nothing. The poor thing must have been in a bad position in my body. He was born with his right ear sticking out. The doctor tells us that with this covering the ear will develop normally. Within a few months there will be nothing abnormal to see.”

  


  Additional Information


  In order to avoid interrupting Delarrey’s account of how the case developed chronologically, I omitted earlier his statement about his wife’s use of the ouija board. He wrote:


  
    I should note here that when my wife uses a ouija board, she is entirely unaware of what she is spelling out, even though she does not appear to be in any way in a trance. While her hand is moving with the planchette she can carry on a conversation with other people present on any topic [Delarrey, 1955, p. 41].

  


  Comment


  Predictions of congenital anomalies made by mediums supposedly communicating with a discarnate person to be reborn do not occur often. The only other instance that I can now remember is that in the case of Huriye Bugay (Stevenson, 1997).


  James Fraser


  This case consists of a recurrent vivid dream. I first learned about it from a brief account included in a book on the highland clans of Scotland (Moncreiffe and Hicks, 1967). I wrote to the senior author of this book, Sir Iain Moncreiffe of that Ilk, and asked whether I could learn more details of the case. He obligingly sent me copies of correspondence he had had with Major Charles Ian Fraser, to whom the dreamer, James Fraser, had given an account of the dream in the late 1920s. Charles Ian Fraser was a prominent landowner of the area, the local laird. He did not make a written record of the dream until he described it in a letter to Iain Moncreiffe dated August 14, 1962. Iain Moncreiffe sent me copies of four letters Charles Ian Fraser had written to him about the dream. He also added additional information about the background of the case in subsequent correspondence with me. Charles Ian Fraser died in 1963, before I had learned of the case.


  The Report


  James Fraser was born in 1870, probably in Beauly, Inverness-shire, Scotland. He was educated through primary school, but not beyond. In adulthood he worked as a wheelwright. Charles Ian Fraser described James Fraser as “just literate.” Nevertheless, he had some interest in the history of Scotland, including his region of it. He was an omnivorous reader of books, especially about the Scottish highlands. He attended meetings of the Beauly Mutual Improvement Association, where lecturers from time to time spoke on local history. Charles Ian Fraser gave such a lecture. In his lecture he alluded to a celebrated battle of the 16th century between two Scottish clans. This battle occurred on July 3, 1544, near Loch Lochy and was known (in Gaelic) as Blar-na-Leine, which in English means “the swampy place.” The Clanranalds (a sept of the MacDonalds) and their allies fought against the Frasers of Lovat and killed, among others, the 3rd Lord Lovat and his son. Few combatants on either side survived the battle. It was said that only four Frasers survived (Fraser, 1905). The clan might have been exterminated, but a large number of the Fraser wives were pregnant and gave birth to sons.25


  About a week after the lecture James Fraser called on Charles Ian Fraser and said he would like to tell him privately about a dream he had had. He had found that “people would laugh at him,” if he spoke about his dream to other persons.


  James Fraser described his dream in a state of some excitement, and he became impatient when Charles Ian Fraser interrupted him to ask for more details.


  The Content of the Dream


  James Fraser first described26 an awareness in the dream that


  
    his father and relatives and friends seemed to be present but looked quite different in features and build. Yet something told him their identity…. Their clothing was quite different and so was the appearance of the countryside [compared with the area around Beauly]. But he knew he was in Mac Shimi’s27 country [that of the Frasers of Lovat] and that his family and neighbors had received a summons to arms…. Most of them wore “garments of stuff” and some had leather or sheepskin about them. The better-to-do were riding on “shaggy horses” and had “chain-mail armor” with conical headgear and two-handed swords. Most of the men had bows and arrows and many had “battle-axes.” All had some form of dirk….

  


  
    He and his comrades went “down the Great Glen” [the long valley in Inverness-shire in which lie Loch Ness and Loch Lochy] until [they reached] Fort Augustus [not then known by that name.] They were joined by many others of Mac Shimi’s clansmen from Stratherrick [south of Loch Ness]. These men were similarly clothed and armed…. They were to fight a battle against the Clanranald MacDonalds. In a very little while, by the shores of Loch Lochy, they did. [The battle began with] “showers of arrows”…. All the mounted men dismounted and led the vanguard on foot with their two-handed swords. And suddenly [he] heard a cry for help, and near him on the ground his father was struggling in the grip of someone who was not a MacDonald, but who was that day fighting in their array. He saw a battle-axe lying on the ground beside his father, picked it up, hit his father’s assailant on the head with it, and killed him.

  


  
    Then he saw a big tall man in trousers and a coat of chain-mail protecting a number of wounded Frasers who had crawled into an angle formed by two turf or dry-stone dykes; the big man was swinging his two-handed sword around him. This man was the Laird of Foyers. He fought until he fell wounded from an arrow.

  


  Features of the Dream


  James Fraser said that he had the dream “many times; it was always the same.” The images seemed somewhat disconnected, as if he “was just getting glimpses of something from the past.”


  Charles Ian Fraser did not ask James Fraser whether he had noticed any circumstance that seemed to instigate the dream. Nor did he learn how old James Fraser had been when he first had the dream.


  When Charles Ian Fraser asked James Fraser how he could tell in the dream that it was of the battle of Blar-na-Leine and how he could tell that a man in the dream was the laird of Foyers, he replied that he “just knew.”


  James Fraser showed strong emotion during his narration of the dream. He seemed to experience the “terror of the arrows” as he narrated this opening scene of the battle.


  Charles Ian Fraser’s Appraisal of the Dream


  James Fraser’s accurate description of the clothing and arms of the combatants particularly impressed Charles Ian Fraser. Completely absent from the details were the conventional romantic features of warfare in the Scottish highlands: tartans, balmoral caps, one-handed swords with basket hilts, and target shields.


  Charles Ian Fraser, who had known James Fraser, but not well, before James Fraser visited him and narrated his dream, learned that he was well regarded in the community, although reputed to be somewhat “fanciful,” especially if in liquor. He might have earned the reputation for being “fanciful” by narrating his dream to other persons.28 James Fraser died at the age of 72 on July 9, 1942.


  Charles Ian Fraser had no doubt that James Fraser had read at least some of the published accounts of the battle of Blar-na-Leine. Yet he did not think such reading or other normally acquired knowledge could adequately account for the dream. He found that James Fraser did not enrich the dream when questioned. For example, when asked whether, in the dream, he and his father had been killed in the battle, James Fraser said “I do not know.” Charles Ian Fraser concluded one of his letters to Iain Moncreiffe (dated August 19, 1962) by writing: “I remain convinced that whatever James Fraser did or did not read a good part of his narrative to me was wholly personal and genuine.” He considered reincarnation a possible interpretation of the dream.


  Normal Sources of Information About the Battle of “Blar-na-Leine”


  The battle of Blar-na-Leine does not figure in popular histories of Scotland. It is not, however, obscure to persons with a deeper interest in the history of the Scottish highlands. On the contrary, several books readily available in the region of Inverness describe the battle. They name the combating clans and mention the chain-mail worn and the weapons used: bows and arrows and two-handed swords (Fraser, 1905; Keltie, 1875; Macdonald, 1934). In a chapter on the Frasers of Foyers, Mackenzie (1896) described the death of the laird of Foyers from wounds received in the battle.


  Comment


  Charles Ian Fraser, both in his original record of the dream and in his subsequent correspondence with Iain Moncreiffe, carefully considered the possibility of normal sources of information for the content of James Fraser’s recurrent dream. James Fraser certainly had access to some published sources of information about the battle of Blar-na-Leine. It seemed to Charles Ian Fraser, however, and it seems to me also, that the correspondence between the content of the dream and known facts about the battle does not explain the personal quality of the experience that James Fraser had in his recurrent dream. He seemed to be living the events of the dream.


  Moncreiffe in his brief summary of the case speculates that because the Frasers were much inbred James Fraser could well have been descended from a participant in the battle of Blar-na-Leine. He thought “ancestral memory” a plausible explanation for the dream. I have elsewhere summarized the case of an American subject (Mary Magruder) who from childhood on had nightmares that might be explained by “ancestral memory,” in her case inherited from an 18th-century forebear. Our present knowledge of genetics, however, does not accommodate the idea of a physical transmission of detailed imagery, such as occurs in dreams of previous lives, from one generation to later ones.


  Concluding Remarks About the Older Cases


  My closing remark in introducing these eight older cases asserted their credibility. I hope the reports that followed adequately showed why I believe this. Here I will review some of the features of the cases that I have found persuasive.


  None of the persons concerned in these cases endeavored to exploit them or even to publicize them substantially. One subject wrote a book and another a booklet about his experiences; but these had little sale and seem quickly to have gone out of print. Contrary to a common myth about persons who remember previous lives, none of the persons whose lives were remembered (or whose rebirth was predicted) had any important celebrity. Giuseppe Costa remembered the life of a person of some renown in his own time and a little later; but Ibleto di Challant had no enduring fame except to historians of medieval Italy.


  With one exception the philosophical and religious stances of the persons concerned did not prepare them for the case about which they testified. Two of the subjects (Costa and Neidhart) were avowed materialists at the time of their experiences. The informants for two other cases (Battista and Albret) emphasized their skepticism until the case they reported developed. The family involved in a fifth case (Courtain) had no prior knowledge of spiritualism (which entailed reincarnation in continental Europe of the time). In a sixth case (Fraser) the subject’s experience baffled him, seems to have been rejected by his peers, and led him to seek a sympathetic or at least open-minded listener.


  In the two remaining cases (Samonà and Raynaud) the person (or persons) concerned had had some knowledge of spiritualism and the idea of reincarnation. In the case of Allessandrina Samonà, however, her parents had no prior expectation that Adele Samonà could have another pregnancy let alone that their deceased daughter would be reborn among them. The case of Laure Raynaud provides the single instance of a subjectin her case apparently from childhoodwith a previous firm belief in reincarnation and in the reality of memories of a previous life that she had.


  The unpreparedness of the subjects (or informants) in seven of the eight cases that developed does not confirm reincarnation as the best interpretation for them. It does, however, contribute to their authenticity,29 a condition we require before we consider reincarnation as a contender explanation of them.


  1. To readers doubtful of the accuracy of memories for these experiences over a period of years (before the making of a written record) I recommend studies and discussions of this question that my colleagues and I have published (Cook, Greyson, and Stevenson, 1998; Stevenson and Keil, 2000).


  2. One may question whether a schoolboy of the 1890s, as I have supposed Costa to have been, would recognize the flag of the medieval County of Savoy. This seems less implausible when we remember that Italy became united in the 1860s under the house of Savoy, which before that time had been rulers of Piedmont and Sardinia. The blue flag showing the Virgin surrounded by golden stars would be a less accessible detail.


  3. Costa used the Italian word maggiore (larger), which implies that there were only two galleys.


  4. In the case of Georg Neidhart (included later in this Part) the subject also had disordered images in childhood that became coherently assembled in his early adulthood. Ruprecht Schulz, whose case I describe in Part III of this work, had in childhood what I call a behavioral memory; but he had no images of a previous life until his middle adulthood.


  5. This must have been for his qualification as an engineer. Costa does not say so explicitly, but one can infer that he resigned from the army and trained as an engineer. Alternatively, he may have continued to be active in the cavalry part-time, the service being similar to that in the National Guard of the United States.


  6. Costa’s report includes three features of experiences near death, which, my colleagues and I have proposed, suggest survival of human personality after death when they occur together. These are: unusual clarity of consciousness, seeing the physical body from a different position in space, and paranormal perception (Cook, Greyson, and Stevenson, 1998).


  7. Aosta is about 80 kilometers north and slightly west of Turin. It is the principal town of a long and (in the Middle Ages) strategically important valley, close to the present border between Italy and France.


  8. Albenga is on the coast of Italy at the Ligurian Sea. It is about 70 kilometers southwest of Genoa.


  9. Costa supposed that Boniface’s biography of Ibleto di Challant had been written around 1450. This was in the period of Middle French. Costa described the language as “tortuous, contorted … and almost incomprehensible.” I am surprised that he could read it, and I have asked myself whether the work was written at a later date.


  10. I have called dreams of this type “announcing dreams.” They occur often among cases in Asia, especially among those in Myanmar (Burma) and Turkey. They also occur frequently among the cases of the Tlingit of southeastern Alaska (Stevenson, 1987/2001).


  11. Carmelo Samonà had earlier published a book on psychical research, which, according to Lancelin (1922), competent investigators had much praised. I have not seen this book myself.


  13. The facial asymmetries of the two Alessandrinas impressed me also, and I published Samonà’s photographs of the two Alessandrina’s in a brief report of the case (Stevenson, 1997).


  13. I have published elsewhere further information, reports of illustrative cases, and extensive references to other publications about maternal impressions (Stevenson, 1992, 1997).


  14. In Part I I referred to the belief among some Europeans that a later-born child is the reincarnation of a deceased sibling.


  15. In other, more recent cases of the reincarnation type, the interval between the previous personality’s death and the subject’s birth has been less than 9 months. Examples occurred in the cases of Ravi Shankar Gupta, Sujith Lakmal Jayaratne, and Cemil Fahrici.


  16. Delanne’s text differs from Lancelin in this detail. Delanne mentioned only one slope, that at the back of the house, which he said, contrary to Laure Raynaud’s statement, was downward.


  17. Georg Neidhart’s chronology seems slightly off here. He was 25 years old in May 1923. The appalling inflation in Germany to which he referred lasted from the last months of 1922 to December 1923.


  18. Georg Neidhart here means the interval between A.D. 1150 and 1924 when he had his experience and made his notes, not 1957, when his account was first written out fully and published.


  19. In his booklet Georg Neidhart reproduced a sketch of the castle that he seemed to see during his experience. The sketch has written on it the initials GN and the date of 1924. Figure 2 reproduces the sketch.


  20. Regen is a small town in northeastern Bavaria near the border of the Czech Republic (formerly Bohemia). It is about 140 kilometers northeast of Munich.


  21. Georg Neidhart had mentioned this passageway earlier in his report.


  22. If Georg Neidhart meant that the passageway went under the River Regen, the distance would have been a little more than 2 kilometers. There are, however, other smaller streams in the area of Weissenstein.


  23.This tower in Regen, which was later incorporated in a church, dates from the 12th century.


  24. The case of Giuseppe Costa provides another example of a child having scattered images, apparently of a previous life, that later became organized into a coherent sequence.


  25. This epidemiological detail is not unique. An increase in the ratio of male to female births has been recorded during and after several wars, including both World Wars. I have given sources of these data elsewhere (Stevenson, 1974a).


  26. In the quotation from Charles Ian Fraser’s report I have made a few insertions to facilitate reading or explain geographical features.


  27. Mac Shimi is Gaelic for “son of Simon.” The chiefs of the Frasers of Lovat are descendants of an important ancestor, Sir Simon Fraser, who chased the English after the Battle of Bannockburn in 1314.


  28. In Part I, I cited Evans-Wentz (1911), who found traces of a belief in reincarnation in the Scottish highlands during the first decade of the last century. Among the cases that I investigated, and describe later in this work (Part III), that of Jenny McLeod occurred in a community of Inverness-shire within 25 kilometers of Beauly, where James Fraser lived.


  29. By authenticity I mean the accuracy of the reports of a case that we receive from informants for it (or investigators of it). The reports should correspond to the “events that actually happened.” In practice we can rarely know “what actually happened” and so our judgment about authenticity depends on our detection of carelessness, inconsistencies, and motives to suppress or embellish facts.


  Authenticity does not entail paranormality in a judgment of which we invoke means of communication not explicable by accepted knowledge of communication or physical movement.




End of sample
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